

UG 12

Reference Level Software User's Guide

Issued: November 2024



Version: 3.1

Effective Date: 11/14/2024

Recertified: 11/14/2024

Prepared By: Market Mitigation and Analysis

New York Independent System Operator 10 Krey Boulevard Rensselaer, NY 12144 (518) 356-6060 www.nyiso.com

Disclaimer: The information contained within this guide, along with other NYISO manuals and guides, is intended to be used for information purposes only, and is subject to change. The NYISO is not responsible for the user's reliance on these publications, or for any erroneous or misleading material.

©Copyright 1999-2024 New York Independent System Operator



Table of Contents

ТА	BLE OF FIGURES		V
RE	VISION HISTORY		VIII
1.	INTRODUCTION		1
	1.1.Definitio	n of a Reference Level	1
	1.2.Descript	ion of the Reference Level Software Application	2
	1.3.Reference	ce Level Software Application Users	2
	1.4.0btainin	g Help and Handling Error Messages	2
2.	SYSTEM REQUIREM	IENTS	3
	2.1.Compute	er Hardware and Software	3
	2.2.Digital C	ertificates and Market Information System Privileges	3
	2.3.Accessin	ng and Exiting the Reference Level Software (RLS) Application	4
	2.4.Working	with the System Interface	7
	2.4.1.	Menus	7
	2.4.2.	Breadcrumbs	8
	2.4.3.	Pages	9
	2.4.4.	LINKS	
	2.4.5.	Fillers	10
	2.4.0.	Sorting Controls	11 12
	2.4.7.	Page Navigation Controls	
3.	COST DATA SUBMIS	SSION	
	3.1.Grouping	g of Engine Types	
	3.2.Cost Dat	a Submission Components	14
	3.3.Cost Dat	a Submission Entry Process	14
	3.3.1.	Create a Cost Data Submission	
	3.3.2.	How to Copy a Submission	
	3.3.3.	How to Remove a Submission	
	3.3.4.	How to Rescind a Submission	47
	3.3.5.	How to View a Submission Summary	
	3.3.6.	How to Submit a Submission for Approval	
	3.3.7.	How to Compare a Submission	
	3.3.8.	How to Add an Attachments to a Submission	
4.		AD COST DATA IN XML FORMAT	
••			



5.	LIST SUBMISSIONS	64
	5.1.How to List Submissions	64
6.	VIEW APPROVED COST DATA	66
	6.1. How to View Approved Cost Data	66
7.	VIEW REFERENCE LEVELS	68
	7.1.How to View Reference Levels	68
8.	NOTIFICATIONS	71
	8.1.How to View Notifications	71
9.	PENDING SUBMISSIONS	75
	9.1.How to View Pending Submissions	75
10.	COST DATA APPROVAL PROCESS	
	10.1.Cost Data Submission Status Codes	76
	10.2.Question and Answer Exchange	77
11.	AGGREGATIONS / DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES (DERS)	79
	11.1.Aggregations / Distributed Energy Resources (DERs) Overview	79
	11.2.DERs Cost Information	79
APF	PENDIX A RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE	A
APF	PENDIX B FUEL COST ADJUSTMENT FUNCTIONALITY	В



Table of Figures

Figure 1: NYISO Home Page	4
Figure 2: Expanded NYISO MARKETS Header Showing Categorized Selectable Options	4
Figure 3: MARKET ACCESS LOGIN Link	5
Figure 4: Market Access Logins Screen	5
Figure 5: RLS User Login Page	6
Figure 6: RLS Home Page	6
Figure 7: Generator Cost Data Menu and Related Options	7
Figure 8: Reference Levels Menu and Related Options	8
Figure 9: Sample Breadcrumb Trail	8
Figure 10: Displaying Multiple Pages of Data	9
Figure 11: Sample RLS Links	10
Figure 12: Sample Drop-down Filter	10
Figure 13: Sample Calendar and List Filters	11
Figure 14: Sample Sorting Controls	12
Figure 15: Sample Data Navigation Controls	12
Figure 16: Engine Type Groups	13
Figure 17: Access Path for Initiating Submission of Cost Data	14
Figure 18: Submission Details Page Definitions	15
Figure 19: Create New Submission Page	10
Figure 20: Reset New Submission Confirmation Prompt	10
Figure 21: View Submission Dage Reflecting Saved Submission Details	10
Figure 22: Links to Modify Submission Details and Add Cost Data Sogmants and Submission Families	17
Figure 22: Cast Data Segmente Daga Definition	17
Figure 24: Add Segment Dieleg Pey	10
Figure 24. Add Segment Didlog Box	19
Figure 25. Liftks to Moulity Cost Data Segments	19
Figure 20: Add Submission Family Dialog Box	20
Figure 27: Means of Selecting a Generator Family for Modification	20
Figure 28: Link to Modifying Generator Contacts	21
Figure 29: Generator Contacts Page Definition	21
Figure 30: Generator Contacts Page	23
Figure 31: Heat Rate Details Page Definition	24
Figure 32: Heat Rate Data Segments Page Definition	24
Figure 33: Heat Rate Data Page	25
Figure 34: Link to Modifying Heat Rate Data	26
Figure 35: Fuel and Emission Cost Data Page Definition	26
Figure 36: Fuel Types Available as of January 1, 2024	28
Figure 37: Emission Types Available as of September 1, 2010	29
Figure 38: Add Fuel Cost Data Page	30
Figure 39: Link to Adding Emission Costs	30
Figure 40: Add Emission Dialog Box	31
Figure 41: Links to Modifying Fuel Cost and Emission Data	31
Figure 42: Startup Fuel Type Page Definition	32
Figure 43: Startup Intervals Page Definition	32
Figure 44: Add Startup Fuel Dialog Box	33
Figure 45: Links to Modifying Startup Fuel Cost Data	33
Figure 46: Variable Production & Operating Maintenance Costs Page Definition	34
Figure 47: Regulatory & Related Costs Page Definition	34
Figure 48: Variable Production/O&M Costs Page	35
Figure 49: Regulatory & Related Costs Page	35
Figure 50: Links to Modifying Variable Production & Operating and Maintenance Costs	36
Figure 51: Emergency Output Details Page Definition	37



Figure 52: Opportunity Cost Details Page Definition	37
Figure 53: Risk Premium Details Page Definition	38
Figure 54: Emergency Output Details Dialog Box as Accessed from Risk & Opportunity Cost Data Page.	39
Figure 55: Add Opportunity Cost Page	40
Figure 56: Add Risk Premium Page	40
Figure 57: Links to Modify Emergency Output Details, Opportunity Cost Details, and Risk Premium Details	ils41
Figure 58: Regulation Movement Cost Details Page Definition	42
Figure 59: Link to Adding Ancillary Services Family	43
Figure 60: Link to Entering Regulation Movement Cost Components	43
Figure 61: Regulation Movement Costs	44
Figure 62: Copy Submission Link	44
Figure 63: Copy Submission Dialog Box	45
Figure 64: Remove Submission Link	46
Figure 65: Remove Submission Confirmation Prompt	
Figure 66: Rescind Submission Link	48
Figure 67: Rescind Submission Confirmation Promot	48
Figure 68: View Summary Link	10
Figure 60: Submission Summary with Violations (Errors)	4 9
Figure 70: Submission Summany	
Figure 70. Submit Ear Approval Link	50
Figure 71. Submin For Approval Link	
Figure 72: Cost Data Submission Commation Prompt Renecting Submission Level Drop-down List	52
Figure 73: Submission for Approval with Violations (Errors)	53
Figure 74: Successful RLS Submission for Approval	53
Figure 75: Submission Violations	54
Figure 76: Compare Link	57
Figure 77: Approved Cost Data on Compare Cost Data Page	57
Figure 78 Other Cost Data Submissions on Compare Cost Data Page	58
Figure 79: Side-by-Side Cost Data Comparison	58
Figure 80: Attachments Link	59
Figure 81: Attachment Upload File Link	60
Figure 82: Mechanisms for Selecting an Attachment File for Upload and Submitting or Canceling Upload	60
Figure 83: View Cost Data Attachments Page Reflecting Uploaded Attachments and Related Options	61
Figure 84: View Comments Link	61
Figure 85: Comments Dialog Box	62
Figure 86: Access Path for Viewing Cost Data Submissions	64
Figure 87: List Cost Data Submissions	65
Figure 88: Access Path for Initiating Display of Approved Cost Data	66
Figure 89: Options for Viewing Approved Cost Data	67
Figure 90: Access Path for Initiating Display of Reference Level Values	68
Figure 91 : List Reference Levels for Market Date	69
Figure 92: List Final Reference Values Page Illustrating Filter Options and Links to Details	69
Figure 93: Example of Final Reference Values Detail	70
Figure 94: Notification Triggers, Recipients, and Messages	71
Figure 95: Home Page Illustrating Notifications and Acknowledgment Link	73
Figure 96: Notification Acknowledgment Confirmation Prompt	73
Figure 97: Notification History Display Filtering Options	
Figure 98: Home Page Illustrating Pending Submissions	
Figure 99: Rejected Component Among Approved Components for a Rejected Cost Data Submission	77
Figure 100: View Approval Questions Link	78
Figure 101: Sample Approval Question and Response	78
Figure 102: Addregation Menu	
Figure 103: List Aggregation View	
Figure 104: List Cost Based Templates View	00
rigure 104. List 00st based rempiates view	00

는 New York ISO

Figure B-1: Fuel Entry Thresholds	С
Figure B-2: Generator Bid Screen	G



Revision History

Version	Effective Date	Revisions
1.0	10/19/2010	Initial Release
1.1	6/13/2011	B265 : RLS Enhancements 2011
		Section 3.1
		Update Table: Engine Type Groups; rename 'FlyWheel' to 'LESR'
		Section 3.3.1.5.2
		> Add new Fuel Type Id : '36 Exclude'
		Section 3.3.6.1
		Add new Submission Violation to table 3-17 'Missing Engine Type'.
		Section 7.1
		Update to include Time Based Reference Levels are viewable to user
		> Update forms for 'List Reference Levels'
1.2	6/12/2012	B282: RLS 2012 Enhancements project
		Section 3.3.1.6.1 Table 3-11 Startup Intervals Page Definition
		* Cost field range was 0-999999.99 and is now -999999.99 to 999999.99
		Section 3.3.1.7.1 Table 3-13 Regulatory & Related Costs Page Definition
		* Cost field range was 0-999.99 and is now -999.99 to 999.99
		Section 3.3.1.8.1 Table 3-15 Opportunity Cost Details Page Definition
		* Cost field range was 0-999.99 and is now -999.99 to 999.99
		Section 3.3.1.8.1 Table 3-16 Risk Premium Details Page Definition
		* Cost field range was 0-999.999 and is now -999.999 to 999.999
1.3	06/21/2013	Section 3.3.1.9
		 New Section detailing process for entering costs pertaining to Regulation Movement Cost
		Section 3.3.6.1
		New violation "Missing Ancillary Cost Data" added to Table 3-18
2.0	05/13/2019	Applied new NYISO Corporate branding and updated screen shots for new NYISO website.
		Section 1.3 > Updated Customer Service to Stakeholder Services
		Section 2.2
		Updated Customer Relations to Member Relations and added
		Stakeholder Services



	Section 2.3 Updated Login process from current NYISO Web Portal
	Section 3.3.1.6.2
	 Expanded verbiage to include expectations of providing Startup cost data
	Section 3.3.1.9
	 Expanded verbiage to include expectations of providing Regulation cost data
04/16/2024	Global
	 Added information for Distributed Energy Resources (DER) Aggregation functions
	Updated formatting and branding throughout document
	Table of Figures
	Updated figure numbers
	Section 4
	Removed information relating to the XML uploading and downloading, as this feature has been retired. Section 4 has been deleted except for a heading; all other sections have not been renumbered.
	Appendix A
	Removed information pertaining to the retired XML feature. Appendix A has been reserved for future use.
11/14/2024	Recertified
	 Corrected formatting and document spacing
	04/16/2024

1. Introduction

This user guide is intended for Market Participants (MPs) who are users of the NYISO Reference Level Software (RLS) application. This user guide has been organized in the following fashion:

- <u>Section 1</u> serves as a general introduction.
- <u>Section 2</u> describes the hardware and software requirements to access the RLS application.
- <u>Section 3</u> describes the requirements to create, download, copy, remove, rescind, view, submit, and compare a Cost Data Submission in the RLS application. In addition, this section describes how to create an attachment and comments for a Cost Data Submission.
- <u>Section 4</u> is reserved for future use. The XML upload download feature that was described in this section has been retired.
- <u>Section 5</u> describes the requirements to list Cost Data Submissions in the RLS application.
- <u>Section 6</u> describes the requirements to view approved cost data in the RLS application.
- <u>Section 7</u> describes the requirements to view Reference Levels in the RLS application.
- <u>Section 8</u> describes the requirements to view notifications in the RLS application.
- <u>Section 9</u> describes the requirements to view pending submissions in the RLS application.
- <u>Section 10</u> describes the approval process for a cost data submission, by indicating the different states of a cost data submission.
- <u>Section 11</u> describes Aggregation/Distributed Energy Resource (DER) cost information
- <u>Appendix A</u> is reserved for future use. The XML upload download feature that was addressed in Appendix A has been retired.
- <u>Appendix B</u> describes the /Fuel Cost Adjustment (FCA) functionality that allows a MP to enter a fuel type and fuel cost to update a Reference Level.

Note: Some screenshots in this user's guide were captured after resizing the application's window. This may have caused the application to wrap within the window and appear slightly different as compared to viewing in a fully-sized browser window. Some screenshots were cropped for ease of presentation.

1.1. Definition of a Reference Level

A *Reference Level* is a "proxy" that is intended to reflect the offer(s) that a Market Participant would submit for a generator if it was in a competitive market and could not exercise Market Power. The methods used to develop Reference Levels are set forth in Attachment H to the NYISO *Market Administration and Control Area Services Tariff (Services Tariff)*¹.

¹<u>https://www.nyiso.com/regulatory-viewer</u>.

1.2. Description of the Reference Level Software Application

The RLS Application is a user-friendly, secure, Web-based application. The RLS Application includes features that support the requirements to submit cost-based data.

This guide aids MPs in developing cost-based Reference Levels. Cost based is only one of several valid methods of developing Reference Levels as set forth in Attachment H to the NYISO *Services Tariff*. The Reference Levels that the NYISO actually uses may be Bid-Based, LBMP-Based, ISO-Determined, Cost-Based, or a combination of these Reference Level types.

Aggregations are made up of one or more Distributed Energy Resources (DERs). DERs and Energy Storage Resources (ESRs) will not be eligible to have Bid-Based or LBMP-Based Reference Levels, but the NYISO may consider their offers during competitive periods in developing ISO-Determined Reference Levels. DERs will be assigned Cost Based Templates as described in Section 11 below.

1.3. Reference Level Software Application Users

The community of users for the RLS Application is MPs.

1.4. Obtaining Help and Handling Error Messages

When help is required while using the RLS application, please contact your Stakeholder Services Representative.

This application will display an error message whenever an error condition is triggered by user action. These messages will be displayed in an error window including information about the detected error. After reading the error message, close the window and proceed accordingly. If additional help or information is needed, please contact your NYISO Stakeholder Services Representative.

2. System Requirements

This section describes the computer requirements for the user to run the RLS Application.

2.1. Computer Hardware and Software

The following are required to run the RLS Application:

- Microsoft Internet Explorer (version 7.0) OR Mozilla Firefox (version 3.0) with Java Script enabled.
- Minimum 1024x768 screen resolution
- Internet connection with a recommended connection speed of at least 56 kbps
- Adobe Acrobat Reader

2.2. Digital Certificates and Market Information System Privileges

All users must have a valid NAESB digital certificate installed on their respective computers, linked to the user's MIS account and specific to their respective browsers in order to access the RLS application. For more information on digital certificates (including applying, exporting, obtaining, installing, and validating), please see the *NYISO Market Participants User's Guide*, accessible from the **User Guides** folder on the NYISO Web site at the following URL:

https://www.nyiso.com/manuals-tech-bulletins-user-guides

_Existing Market Information System (MIS) accounts need to be set-up with RLS privileges. At the organization level, this must be done by the NYISO. Once the organization is set up with the necessary privileges, the organization's MIS Administrator may then assign RLS privileges at the user level. If the MIS does not reflect the **RLS MP View References**, **RLS MP Update Costs**, or **RLS MP View Costs** privileges in the **Privileges** area of the Organization Details display for your organization, contact the NYISO Member Relations or Stakeholder Services group as outlined in the section of the *NYISO Market Participants User's Guide* on Changing Privileges/Authorizations, Contact Information, and Classifications.

2.3. Accessing and Exiting the Reference Level Software (RLS) Application

To log in to the RLS application

Note: In order to access the RLS application, the user must have RLS privileges.

1. Point your browser to the NYISO Home Page at <u>www.nyiso.com</u> (see Figure 1).

Figure 1: NYISO Home Page

Independent System Operator	About Us 🐱 MARKETS 🛩	Grid of the Future 👻	Careers ~	Calendar :	Support 👻 TRAINING 🛩	Login v Q	
				- 11			
DELIVERING	THE GRI	D OF T	IE FU	TURE			1.1
Reliably managing 1	N/s power grid	& wholesale	energy ma	irkets	1 2 1		3
Megawatts (MW)	Wholesale Cost	/MWh		fficial NYISO Tim	ne (EST):		
19,610	\$48.9	92		15:23	3:55	a tabu	
NY REAL-TIME LOAD	DAY AHEAD MA			SYSTEM CONDI	TIONS		
3 3 11	1	A CONTRACTOR	and the		1		

2. On the NYISO Home page, position your cursor over the **MARKETS** header. The header expands to list related categories of information (see Figure 2).

Figure 2: Expanded NYISO MARKETS Header Showing Categorized Selectable Options

New York ISO	About Us v Grid of the F MARKETS v LIBRARY v	Future - Careers - Calendar Support - Login - PLANNING - COMMITTEES - TRAINING - Q
REAL-TIME DATA DASHBOARD SYSTEM CONDITIONS	ENERGY MARKET & OPERATIONAL DATA Pricing Data Power Grid Data Load Data Reports & Info Postings by Date Custom Reports Ancillary Services	INSTALLED CAPACITY MARKET (ICAP) Capacity Accreditation TRANSMISSION CONGESTION CONTRACTS (TCC) DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES (DER) Demand Response Behind-the-Meter Net Generation MARKET ACCESS LOGIN
NY REAL-TIME LOAD	DAY AHEAD MARKET	SYSTEM CONDITIONS

3. Click on the Market Access Login link (See Figure 3).

Figure 3: MARKET ACCESS LOGIN Link

New York ISO	About Us 👻 Grid of the Fu	sture 🛩 Careers 🛩 Calendar Support 🛩 Login 🛩
independent System Operator	MARKETS - LIDRARY -	PLANNING Y COMMITTEES Y TRAINING Y Q
REAL-TIME DATA DASHBOARD	ENERGY MARKET & OPERATIONAL DATA	INSTALLED CAPACITY MARKET (ICAP)
SYSTEM CONDITIONS	Pricing Data	Capacity Accreditation
	Power Grid Data	TRANSMISSION CONGESTION CONTRACTS (TCC)
	Load Data	DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES (DER)
	Reports & Info	Demand Response
	Postings by Date	Behind-the-Meter Net Generation
	Custom Reports	MADVET ACCESS LOCIN
	Ancillary Services	MARKET AGGEDS LOUIN
NY REAL-TIME LOAD	DAY AHEAD MARKET	SYSTEM CONDITIONS
19.		

4. The webpage displays the User Login link (see Figure 4).

Figure 4: Market Access Logins Screen

	MARKETS ~	Abou LIBRARY ~	t Us 🗸 PLANNING	Sitemap	Calendar	Support ~ TRAINING ~	Login ~ Q
Inverse Construction of Constr	MARRETS - Marketplace Bidding & Marketplace Didding s Marketplace Upioad/Download Setf-Service Account Market Participant User Guide Market Participant User Guide Market Participant User Guide Joint Energy Scheduling USES Upioad/Download Settement Data Application User Settement Data Application Settement Data Application GAP Automated Market User User Login CAP Automated Market User Settement Data Application Settement Data Appli	LIBRARY > TCC Auto * User Logi * TCC Uplo TCC User Logi * User Login * User Login Outage Sci Outage Sci Power Coc Board (IR User Login Information View as 64 Credit Ma (CMS) * User Login Information View as 64 Credit Ma (CMS) * User Login Information View as 64 Credit Ma (CMS) * User Login User Login Information View as 64 Credit Ma (CMS) * User Login User Login Use	FLANRING mated Main in maded Main in maded Downlo occuments Support S n n tequest chedule (1 a n hedule due te chedule (1 a n hedule due te chedule (1 a n hedule due te te te te te te te te te te te te te	rrOA) rrOA) r's Guide ulletin miy) t System Emissic GGFER)	n SS)	TRAINING ~	Q O Digital rail dbox links
	VSS User Guide						

5. The Reference Level Software Login page is displayed (as shown in Figure 5, following).

Referen	ce Level Software
Username	ep 6 Note: Your company's NYISO Administrator must assign Reference Level Software privileges to access this application
Copy	ght © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential

6.	In the correspon	ding fields,	type your MIS	Username and	Password.
----	------------------	--------------	---------------	--------------	-----------

- 7. Activate the **Login** button. By default, following a login, the RLS Home page is displayed (as shown in
- 8. Figure 6).

Figure 6: RLS Home Page

Generator Cost Data	Aggregations F	eference Levels Site	Map	
ocherator obst bala	Aggregations		inter	
Notifications				
You have no new notifications.				View Notification History
Pending Cost Data				
Pending Cost Data There is no cost data pending a	oprovals.			
Pending Cost Data There is no cost data pending a	pprovals.	Copyright © 2024 New York I	ndependent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confide	ential.

From this screen you can view Notification messages and Pending Submissions. Additionally, the logoff (**Logout**) button is on this page.

To log out of the Reference Level Software (RLS) Application

In the upper-right corner of the application window, click the **Logout** link (as shown in Figure 6).

2.4. Working with the System Interface

The term *system interface* refers to the composite mechanisms displayed on screen that provide for interaction with a system. Key RLS interface components include the following:

- Menus
- Breadcrumbs
- Pages
- Links
- Filters
- Configuration controls
- Data navigation controls

2.4.1. Menus

Menus allow users to initiate the various tasks made possible by the system. In RLS, menus are accessed by clicking a heading in the static bar always displayed across the top of the interface.

For example, the *Generator Cost Data* menu, illustrated in Figure 7, provides access to the following additional pages:

- Create New Submission,
- Upload Cost Data,
- List Submissions, and
- View Approved Cost Data.

The *Reference Levels* menu, illustrated in Figure 7, provides access to the *List Reference Levels* page and the *Export Reference Levels* page.

Figure 7: Generator Cost Data Menu and Related Options

Reference Level Software								
Generator Cost Data Aggregations	Reference Levels	Site Map						
Cost Data Submissions Create New Submis	sion							
View Approved Cost Data List Submissions								
You have no new notifications. Pending Cost Data								
There is no cost data pending approvals.	Copyright © 2024 Ne	w York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.						

Figure 8: Reference Levels Menu and Related Options

Reference Level Software							
Generator Cost Data Aggregations	Reference Levels Site Map						
	View Reference Level Price List Reference Levels						
Notifications	Export Reference Levels						
You have no new notifications. Pending Cost Data							
There is no cost data pending approvals.	Convright @ 2024 New York Independent System Operator (NVISO) All rights received. Confidential						
	Copyright @ 2024 New York independent System Operator (NY150). All rights reserved, Confidential.						

2.4.2. Breadcrumbs

A breadcrumb trail allows users to keep track of their location within the RLS application and provide links back to each previous page navigated through, to get to the current page. The user is allowed to go back to a previous location within the breadcrumb trail by clicking on the link.

Figure 9 illustrates a breadcrumb trail within the Cost Data Submission process.

Figure 9: Sample Breadcrumb Trail

-150	Reference Lev	el Software		Billy Watt	s (BWATTS) <u>Logout</u>
	Generator Level Subr	nission Level Family Level			
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Si	te Map			
Home List Submissions	View Submission Fuel &	Emissions Cost Data Add Fuel Cost	Breadc	rumbs	
Generator Name Liitl Engine Type Engi PTID 9999	le_Valley9GT ;ine Type X 99	Owner Bidder	Billy Watss Billy Watts		
Submission NamexytzSubmission StatusDRASubmission LevelX	: AFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	11/13/2023		
Add Fuel Cost					
Fuel Type					
Default Energy Fuel for Markets	DAM 🔲 RT				
Price (\$/mmBTU) *	Effective	Date *			
Tax Rate (%) *	Tax Desc	ription		*	
DAM Adder (\$/mmBTU)	Descripti	on			
RT Adder (\$/mmBTU)	Descripti	on			
Emission Heat Rate (BTU/KWh)					
Save Reset Cancel					
* Denotes required field.					
	Copyright © 2018 N	ew York Independent System Operator (IYISO). All rights reserved	l. Confidential.	

2.4.3. Pages

Pages gather and display all controls specific to a request. They can be invoked by the RLS application or by the user choosing an option from one of the system menus. Figure 10 illustrates the result of requesting RLS to List Submissions, which results in a display of multiple sub-pages that can be navigated with the corresponding controls.

Figure 10: Displaying Multiple Pages of Data

	Reference Lev	vel Software			BillyWat	tts (BWATTS) <u>Logout</u>	
Generator Cos	at Data Reference Levels	Site Map						
Home List Submissions Page Cost Data Submissions								
Show 10 🔻								
Created	Name	Generator	<u>Status</u>	Submitted	Level	Effective Start Date	Effective End Date	
07/26/2018 03:50:44 PM EDT	JustGas		DRAFT			09/06/2018		
07/26/2018 03:50:12 PM EDT	JumpsVille 66		DRAFT			08/30/2018		
07/26/2018 03:49:25 PM EDT	Galicia1		DRAFT			08/23/2018		
07/26/2018 03:48:48 PM EDT	HeavensGate		DRAFT			08/16/2018		
07/26/2018 03:48:11 PM EDT	<u>Sol 1</u>		DRAFT			08/09/2018		
07/26/2018 03:47:49 PM EDT	New Pond		DRAFT			08/02/2018		
07/26/2018 03:47:02 PM EDT	New Submission		DRAFT			07/27/2018		
07/26/2018 03:46:13 PM EDT	test 1		DRAFT			07/31/2018		
07/26/2018 12:08:17 PM EDT	test 2		APPROVED	07/26/2018 12:12:39 PM EDT	URGENT	07/26/2018		
07/26/2018 12:04:33 PM EDT	Test 1		APPROVED	07/26/2018 12:05:51 PM EDT	NORMAL	07/26/2018		
Showing 1 to 10 of 1	2 entries		Navigatio	n Controls	<	< 1 2	> >>	
Filtering								

2.4.4. Links

Links allow the user to navigate to other pages within the RLS application. Links are typically specific to the current page the user is accessing. Figure 11 illustrates multiple links that are available on the *View Submission* page.

Figure 11: Sample RLS Links

	BillyWatts (BWATTS) Logo
	Reference Lever Software
0	Defense lande Ott Man
Generator Cost Data	a Reference Levels Site Map
Home List Submissions	View Submission
Generator Name	Generator A Gas Owner Billy Watts
Engine Type	Super Gas Bidder Billy Watts
PTID	*****
[Download Submis	sion Conv. Submission Remove Submission [View Summary Submit Submission For Approval) View Submission (Compare Attachments (0) View Comments (0) CMMT Details]
Submission Details	
Submission Name	LustGas Edit Detai
Submission Created	0/2/6/2018 02:50:44 PM EDT
Submission Created By	Shi waise (RWATTS)
Submission Owner Org	ACME Energy
Submission Status	DRAFT
Generator Name	Generator A Gas
Effective Start Date	09/06/2018
Effective End Date	
Cost Data Segments	
	Edit Segment Remove Segmen
Segment (MW)	Description
	10
	100
Cost Data Families	
	Add Family. Remove Fami
	Family Name
Generator Contacts	
Variable Cost Data	
	Copyright @ 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

2.4.5. Filters

Filters are controls that allow the user to define the scope of a task by selecting system-defined values for one or more system-defined parameters.

In the RLS application, drop-down filters are used, for example, to limit the Generator Name values to the specific generators that the user has authorization to view (Figure 12). In addition, filters are used to narrow the scope of data to be displayed when performing a specific task (

Figure 13).

Figure 12: Sample Drop-down Filter

ļ	Reference Level Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) <u>Logo</u>
Generator Cost	Data Reference Levels Site Map		
Home Create Ne	w Submission		
Submission Detai	le		
Conorator Namo		Q *	
Sellerator Malile	Concreter A		
Submission Name	Generator B		
Mastive Start Date	Generator C	Drop-down filter	
Effective Start Date	Generator D		
Effective End Date	Generator E		
	Generator F		
Save Reset (C Generator G		
Denotes required fi			
Denoted required in	20 20		
		30). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

Figure 13: Sample Calendar and List Filters

Filtering		
	Lower Limit	Upper Limit
Submission Name		
Created Date	06/26/2018	
Submission Date		O Jul V 2018 V O
Effective Start Date		Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa
Effective End Date		1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Calendar Filter
Submission Status	APPROVED DRAFT INVALIDATED REJECTED RESCINDED SUBMITTED	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 31
Generator	Generator A Generator B Generator C Generator D Generator E	
Submission Level	NORMAL URGENT	
Search Reset		
	Copyrig	ght © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidentia

Note: User can select more than one field in the List Filters by pressing **CTRL** then clicking the primary mouse button.

2.4.6. Sorting Controls

Sorting controls allow changing the order in which data is displayed.

Figure 14 illustrates the RLS List Submission page, where submissions for a selected generator are listed, and the user has the ability to change the sort order for each column displayed.

□ To control the parameter by which data are sorted

1. Click the column heading to reverse the sort order.

Note: Any change in sort order persists until either a subsequent sorting change is requested or the page in question is exited.

ļ	Reference Lo	evêl Software			Billy Wa	tts (BWATTS) Lo	<u>ogout</u>		
Generator Cos	t Data Reference Levels	Site Map							
Home List Submissions									
Cost Data Submi	Cost Data Submissions								
Show 10 V		Sorting Controls							
Created	Name	Generator	<u>Status</u>	Submitted	Level	Effective Start Date	<u>ative</u> nd ate		
07/26/2018 03:50:44 PM EDT	JustGas	Generator A Gas	DRAFT			09/06/2018			
07/26/2018 03:50:12 PM EDT	JumpsVille 66	Generator B	DRAFT			08/30/2018			
07/26/2018 03:49:25 PM EDT	Galicia1	Generator C	DRAFT			08/23/2018			
07/26/2018 03:48:48 PM EDT	HeavensGate	Generator D	DRAFT			08/16/2018			
07/26/2018 03:48:11 PM EDT	<u>Sol 1</u>	Generator E	DRAFT			08/09/2018			
07/26/2018 03:47:49 PM EDT	New Pond	Generator F	DRAFT			08/02/2018			
07/26/2018 03:47:02 PM EDT	New Submission	Generator G	DRAFT			07/27/2018			
07/26/2018 03:46:13 PM EDT	test 1	Generator H	DRAFT			07/31/2018			
07/26/2018 12:08:17 PM EDT	test 2	Generator A Gas	APPROVED	07/26/2018 12:12:39 PM EDT	URGENT	07/26/2018			
07/26/2018 12:04:33 PM EDT	Test 1	Generator B	APPROVED	07/26/2018 12:05:51 PM EDT	NORMAL	07/26/2018			
Showing 1 to 10 of 1	2 entries		:	1	<	< 1 2 > (>>		

Figure 14: Sample Sorting Controls

2.4.7. Page Navigation Controls

Data can be navigated by various mechanisms. Scroll bars, which are located on the right side and/or bottom of frames, allow for viewing data that is present on the active page. In addition, the RLS application provides controls (

Figure 15) that, when selected, provide movement between multiple pages of data.



Figure 15: Sample Data Navigation Controls

3. Cost Data Submission

This section describes the RLS application's Cost Data Submission process and all the additional functionality available regarding cost data, outlining the process' sequence of activities.

Aggregations are not eligible to make Cost Submissions. NYISO will assign Cost Templates to DERs as described in Section 11.

3.1. Grouping of Engine Types

The requirements for creating a Cost Data Submission vary based on the engine type group of the generator unit. Subsequent sections of this user guide provide the page definitions and requirements of the engine type group for the data presented on the page. Group A uses require all fields, group B is for units that do not bid a MinGen, group C is for units that may or may not enter a fuel price, and group D is for units with no fuel price. The engine type groups are detailed in Figure 16.

А	В	C	D
Fossil - Coal Mix > 100MW	GT - Frame 5	Fossil - Landfill Gas	Hydro - Pumped Storage
Fossil - Coal Mix < 100MW	GT - Frame 7	Fossil - Wood	Hydro - Run of River
Fossil - Gas and/or Oil > 350 MW	GT - 7EA	Fossil - Refuse	Hydro - Reservoir
Fossil - Gas and/or Oil < 350 MW	GT - LM 6000	Nuclear	Wind

Figure 16: Engine Type Groups

Α	В	С	D
Combined Cycle - Frame 5/6	GT - LM 6000 Sprint	Other	Solar
Combined Cycle - 7FA	GT - PW		LESR
Combined Cycle - 7EA	GT - Simple Cycle		Demand Side Ancillary Service Provider
Combined Cycle - LM 6000	GT - Other		
Combined Cycle - 501G	Diesel		
Combined Cycle - V64.3			
Combined Cycle - V84.2			
Combined Cycle – Other			
Combined Cycle – Siemens SGT6 – 5000F			
Rolls Royce Trent 60			
Reciprocating Engine			
Load Monitor			

Note: The engine type groups are used to define the cost data input requirements for validation. These engine type groups will be used in subsequent sections when describing the Cost Data Submission requirements.

3.2. Cost Data Submission Components

A Cost Data Submission comprises three main components: Submission Details, Cost Data Segments, and Submission Families. The Submission Families component is further categorized into sub-components (families) that include Generator Contacts, Heat Rate Data, Fuel & Emission Cost Data, Startup Cost Data, Variable Cost Data, Risk & Opportunity Cost Data, and Ancillary Services Data.

When creating a Cost Data Submission, data requirements for each component vary based on the engine type group (<u>Section 3.1</u>).

Note: Refer to the conditions matrix under the Page Definitions section for each component input

When creating an initial Cost Data Submission for a generator unit, each component is required, while the *data required* in each component will be driven by the engine type group.

The sections below list and describe all the data items within each component along with identifying the data requirements by engine class.

3.3. Cost Data Submission Entry Process

A new submission can be initiated via the *Generator Cost Data* menu by choosing the *Create New Submission* option (Figure 17); the user is then prompted to enter cost data for all components mentioned in <u>Section 3.2</u>.



Figure 17: Access Path for Initiating Submission of Cost Data

3.3.1. Create a Cost Data Submission

The following sections detail the requirements to create a cost data submission. The sections will be outlined by the individual components. For each component, a table is provided to list and describe the data in each page, along with indicating by engine class, whether the data field is required, optional, conditionally required, or not applicable.

Note: As a user creates each cost data component, the submission is saved in DRAFT mode.

3.3.1.1. Submission Details

Figure 18:	Submission	Details	Page	Definitions
------------	------------	---------	------	-------------

				Eng	ine Ty	pe Gro	up
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	с	D
Generator Name	Text	N	Chosen from a drop-down list of generator units that the user is authorized for, determined by logon id.	R	R	R	R
Submission Name	Text	Y	Name entered to identify the Cost Data Submission. Entered as 30-character free-form text.	R	R	R	R
Effective Start Date	Date	Y	Start Date of a Cost Data Submission entered as mm/dd/yyyy or chosen from the calendar application.	R	R	R	R

Effective End Date	Date	Y	End Date of a Cost Data Submission, entered as mm/dd/yyyy or chosen from the calendar application.	0	0	0	0
			<i>Note:</i> A blank value in this field will designate the cost data as open-ended (i.e., the data entered is effective until a new Cost Data is submitted).				
				R = Re	quired		
				0 = 0p	otional		
				CR = 0	Condition	ally requ	ired
				NA = N	lot applic	cable	

3.3.1.2. How to Enter Submission Details

Upon accessing the Create New Submission page, illustrated in

Figure 19, the user then selects a generator from an RLS-prepared list pre-determined based on the user's logon credentials and role. The user will also enter a Submission Name, Effective Start Date, and optional Effective End Date.

Figure 19: Create New Submission Page

Reference Level Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data Reference Levels Site Map	
Home Create New Submission	
Submission Details	
Generator Name	
Submission Name *	
Effective Start Date *	
Effective End Date	
Save Reset Cancel	
* Denotes required field.	
Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

Next, the user has the following options:

- **Save**, to save the data in *DRAFT* form(see Figure 21).
- **Reset**, to remove all data entered, returning the screen to its original state (see Figure 20).

• **Cancel,** to return the user to the RLS home page.

Note: The Submission Name is an MP-defined value to facilitate keeping track of submissions. Effective Start Date must be greater than or equal to the current date.

Figure 20: Reset New Submission Confirmation Prompt

Reference Level Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data Reference Levels Site Map	
Home Create New Submission	
Submission Details	
Generator Name	
Submission Name * Effective Start Date *	
Effective End Date	
Save Reset Cancel * Denotes required field.	
Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

Once the user has invoked the **Save** action, the application saves the submission in Draft form and displays the *View Submission* page (see Figure 21).

Figure 21: View Submission Page Reflecting Saved Submission Details

 /50	Reference Level Se	oftware	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logo
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site Map		
Home List Submission	View Submission		
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts
[Download Submis	sion Copy Submission Remove Submissi	ion <u>View Summary</u> <u>Sut</u> <u>View Comments (0)</u> <u>C</u>	bmit Submission For Approval <u>View Submission</u> <u>Compare</u> <u>Attachments (0)</u> .MMT Details]
Submission Details			
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date Cost Data Segments	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 09:09:58 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization DRAFT Generator A Gas 08/31/2018	Submission saved in D	Edit Detai
This submission has no Seg	yments.		Add Segmer
This submission has no cos	t data families.		Add Famil
	Copyright © 2018 New York I	Independent System Opera	ator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

At this point the user can take several actions like: edit the Submission Details, add Cost Data Segment(s), and add Submission Families (see Figure 22). To do these actions, the user will activate the **Edit Details**, **Add Segment**, or **Add Family** link to invoke the applicable page.

Figure 22: Links to Modify Submission Details and Add Cost Data Segments and Submission Families

	Reference Level	Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data	a Reference Levels Site	Мар		
Home List Submissions	View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
[Download Submis	sion Copy Submission Remove Sub	mission <u>View Summary</u> <u>Su</u> <u>View Comments (0)</u> <u>(</u>	bmit Submission For Approval Vie CMMT Details]	w Submission Compare Attachments (0)
Submission Details				
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission			
Submission Created	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT			
Submission Created By	Billy Watts (BWATTS)			
Submission Owner Org	Billy Watts Organization			
Submission Status	DRAFT			
Generator Name	Generator A Gas			
Effective End Date	08/31/2018			
Cost Data Segments				
This submission has no Seg	iments.			
Cost Data Families				
This submission has no cos	t data families.			Add Family
	Copyright © 2018 New	York Independent System Oper	ator (NYISO). All rights reserved. C	onfidential.

3.3.1.3. Cost Data Segments

Figure 23: Cost Data Segments Page Definition

				Eng	ine Ty	pe Gro	up
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	A	В	С	D
Segment Value	Numeric	Y	MP-specified megawatt breakpoint values. The associated megawatt output value for the segment. Entered as a value 00 – 10000. <i>Note:</i> User is required to enter a minimum of one segment value for a generator.	R	R	R	R
Description	Text	Y	Text entered to describe the segment and the associated output. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0
				R = Re O = Op CR = 0 NA = n	equired otional Condition ot applic	ally Requ able	uired

3.3.1.4. How to Enter Cost Data Segments

Via the page illustrated in Figure 24, the user can add Cost Data Segments. The user is required to enter a minimum of one segment value for the Cost Data Submission for a new generator. To add a segment, the user is required to enter a Segment Value, while the Description is optional. Once the first segment has been added and saved, the user will have the ability to add additional segments, edit existing segment descriptions, and remove segments (see Figure 25).

Note: The user is required to create segments up to greater than or equal to their MIS Upper Operating Limit.

When editing a cost data segment, the user can make changes to the description only. The user is not allowed to change the value of an actual segment. To perform this task, the user will delete the existing segment then add a new segment.

All megawatt output values created will automatically populate the appropriate identical references throughout the pages.

Figure 24: Add Segment Dialog Box

4 /50	Refere	ence Level Soft	ware			Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data						
Home List Submissions	View Submis					
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A G Combined Cycle 123456	as - 7FA F-Class		Billy Watts Billy Watts		
[Download Submis						
Submission Details						
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	MyNewSubmissi 07/30/2018 10 Billy Watts n Billy Watts n DRAFT Generator A 08/31/2018	Add Segment Segment Value Description Add Reset	MW *		×	
This submission has no Seg	gments.	* Denotes required field.				
This submission has no cos						

Figure 25: Links to Modify Cost Data Segments

 /50	Reference Level	Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Site M	ар		
Home List Submissions	View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
[Download Submiss	ion Copy Submission Remove Subn	nission <u>View Summary</u> <u>Su</u> <u>View Comments (0)</u> <u>(</u>	bmit Submission For Approva CMMT Details]	al <u>View Submission</u> <u>Compare</u> <u>Attachments (0)</u>
Submission Details				
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission			Edit Details
Submission Created Submission Created By	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM ED1 Billy Watts (BWATTS)			
Submission Owner Org	Billy Watts Organization			
Submission Status	DRAFT			
Generator Name	Generator A Gas			
Effective Start Date	08/31/2018			
Ellective Ella Date				Additional controls
0 4 D - 4 - 0	Newly ad	ded Cost Data Segment		
Cost Data Segments				Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
Segment (MW)			Description	دست السبع
	50 Lower Operating Limit	(
Cost Data Families				
This submission has no cost	data families.			Add Family
	Copyright © 2018 New Yo	ork Independent System Oper	ator (NYISO). All rights reser	ved. Confidential.

Next, the user can add each of the Submission Families. To add a Submission Family the user invokes the **Add Family** link then, from the drop-down list, chooses which family to add (see Figure 26).

Figure 26: Add Submission Family Dialog Box



After saving a Submission Family, the user has the option of selecting that family and editing the

information (Figure 27 and Figure 28).

Note: For an initial Cost Data Submission, the MP needs to access each submission family, even if no data is to be entered for that family. This is done to acknowledge completeness of the Cost Data Submission.

In Figure 27, the user has accessed and saved the Generator Contacts and Heat Rate Data families.

Figure 27: Means of Selecting a Generator Family for Modification

	D -6	10.0			Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
- 150	Reference Le	vel Software	•		
-					
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels	Site Map			
Home List Submissions	View Submission				
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owr Bidd	ner Billy Watts der Billy Watts		
[Download Submiss	ion Copy Submission Remo	ve Submission View Sur View Comm	nmary Submit Submission For ents (0) CMMT Details]	Approval View Submission	Compare Attachments (0)
Submission Details					
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization DRAFT Generator A Gas 08/31/2018				<u>Edit Detaiis</u>
Cost Data Segments					
Segment (MW)	50 Lower Operating Limit		Description	Edit Segment	s Add Segment Remove Segment
Cost Data Families					Add Family Remove Family
Generator Contacts	Click on a Family Nan information	ne to modify its	Family Name		
Heat Rate Data					
	Copyright © 2018	New York Independent S	ystem Operator (NYISO). All rigt	ts reserved. Confidential.	

By using the **Generator Contacts** link, the user will be allowed to enter the **Generator Contacts** page. By selecting the **Edit Generator Contacts** link (Figure 28) the user will be able to modify the submission's contact information.

Figure 28: Link to Modifying Generator Contacts

ISO Refe	erence Level Softv	vare		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data Refere	ence Levels Site Map			
Home List Submissions View Su	ubmission Generator Contacts			
Generator NameGeneratorEngine TypeCombined CPTID123456	A Gas Cycle - 7FA F-Class	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name MyNewSubr Submission Status DRAFT Submission Level DRAFT	mission	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018	
	[[Compare View Commen	<u>ts (0)</u>]	
Unit Information				
Unit Designation energy Force 1 Date of First Energy 07/31/2018				
Contacts				
Reference Price Primary	Owner Primary		Bidder Primary	
Name Billy Watts	Name Billy Watts		Name Billy Watts	
Phone 888-777-6666 E-mail bWatts@Watts.org	Phone 888-777-6666 E-mail bWatts@Watts.o	rg	Phone 888-777-6666 E-mail bWatts@Watts.org	
Reference Price Secondary	Owner Secondary		Bidder Secondary	
No contact information available.	No contact information a	vailable.	No contact information available.	
•				
Seneral Comments				
-	Copyright © 2018 New York Indepen	ndent System Operator (N	YISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

3.3.1.5. Generator Contacts Data

Figure 29: Generator Contacts Page Definition

				Engine Type Group			oup
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	A	В	с	D
Unit Designation	Numeric	Y	Text entered to describe the unit designation. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0
Commercial Date	Text	Y	te that generator unit is considered to be in commercial operation. Entered as mm/dd/yyyy or chosen from the calendar application	R	R	R	R
Reference Price Primary Contact Name	Text		The name of the primary contact person, regarding the reference price for a generator unit. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	R	R	R	R
Reference Price Primary Contact Phone	Text	Y	The phone number of the primary contact person, regarding the reference price for a generator unit. Entered as 30-character free- form text.	R	R	R	R

				Engine Type Gro		oup	
Page Field	Data	Editable	Description	Δ	в	C	П
Reference Price Primary Contact E-mail	Text	Y	The e-mail address of the primary contact person, regarding reference price of the generator unit. Entered as a valid e-mail address (e.g. <u>address@domain.com</u>) up to 100 characters.	R	R	R	R
Owner Primary Contact Name	Text	Y	The name of the primary contact person, for the owner of the generator unit. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	R	R	R	R
Owner Primary Contact Phone	Text	Y	The phone number of the primary contact person, for the owner of the generator unit. Entered as 30-character free-form text.	R	R	R	R
Owner Primary Contact E-mail	Text	Y	The e-mail address of the primary contact person, for the owner of the generator unit. Entered as a valid e-mail address (e.g. <u>address@domain.com</u>) up to 100 characters.	R	R	R	R
Bidder Primary Contact Name	Text	Y	The name of the primary contact person, regarding bidding for the generator unit. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	R	R	R	R
Bidder Primary Contact Phone	Text	Y	The phone number of the primary contact person, regarding bidding for the generator unit. Entered as 30-character free-form text.	R	R	R	R
Bidder Primary Contact E-mail	Text	Y	The e-mail address of the primary contact person, regarding bidding for the generator unit. Entered as a valid e-mail address (e.g. address@domain.com) up to 100 characters	R	R	R	R
Reference Price Secondary Name	Text	Y	The name of the secondary contact person, regarding the reference price for a generator unit. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0
Reference Price Secondary Phone	Text	Y	The phone number of the secondary contact person, regarding the reference price for a generator unit. Entered as 30-character freeform text.	0	0	0	0
Reference Price Secondary E-mail	Text	Y	The e-mail address of the secondary contact person, regarding the reference price for the generator unit. Entered as a valid e-mail address (e.g. <u>address@domain.com</u>) up to 100 characters	0	0	0	0
Owner Secondary Name	Text	Y	The name of the secondary contact person, for the owner of the generator unit. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0
Owner Secondary Phone	Text	Y	The phone number of the secondary contact person, for the owner of the generator unit. Entered as 30-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0
Owner Secondary E-mail	Text	Y	The e-mail address of the secondary contact person, for the owner of the generator unit. Entered as a valid e-mail address (e.g. <u>address@domain.com</u>) up to 100 characters	0	0	0	0

				Engine Type Group			oup
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	А	в	с	D
Bidder Secondary Name	Text	Y	The name of the secondary contact person, regarding bidding for the generator unit. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0
Bidder Secondary Phone	Text	Y	The phone number of the secondary contact person, regarding bidding for the generator unit. Entered as 30-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0
Bidder Secondary E-mail	Text	Y	The e-mail address of the secondary contact person, regarding bidding for the generator unit. Entered as a valid e-mail address (e.g. address@domain.com) up to 100 characters	0	0	0	0
General Comments	Text	Y	Free-form area, entered as 4000-character free-form text	0	0	0	0
				R = Re O = Op CR = 0 Requir NA = n	equired otional Condition ed ot applic	ally able	

3.3.1.6. How to Enter Generator Contacts

The *Generator Contacts* page (Figure 30) is used to enter or modify administrative data for the generator, including information for the both the primary and secondary contacts.

Figure 30: Generator Contacts Page

-160	Reference Lev	vel Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logo
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels S	ite Map	
Home List Submissions	<u>View Submission</u> Gener	ator Contacts	
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	, ite 08/31/2018 te
		[View Comments ((0)]
Unit Information			
Unit Designation ener	gy Force 1		
Date of First Energy 07/3	1/2018 *		
Contacts			
Reference Price Primary	y Owne	r Primary	Bidder Primary
Name #Billy Watts	Name	Billy Watts	Name *
Phone *	Phone	888-777-6666 *	Phone *
E-mail *	g E-mail	bWatts@Watts.org *	E-mail *
Reference Price Second	jarv Owne	r Secondary	Bidder Secondary
Name	Name	·,	Name
Phone	Phone		Phone
E-mail	E-mai		E-mail
General Comments			
Save Reset Cancel			
* Denotes required field.	Convright © 2018 N	ew York Independent System Operator	r (NYISO) All rights reserved. Confidential

Note: Once the data has been saved via activation of the corresponding button, the user always has the option to **Edit Generator Contacts** data by invoking the Edit Generator Contacts link (see Figure 30 above) then completing the additional necessary actions. *The MP is responsible for keeping its contact information up to date.*

3.3.1.7. Heat Rate Data

Figure 31: Heat Rate Details Page Definition

				Engine Type Group			oup
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	с	D
Unit Minimum Generation (MW)	Numeric	N	The minimum operating level for a generator unit. Drop-down values populated from Cost Data Segments.	R	R	R	R
Heat Input at Min Gen (mmBTU/hour)	Numeric	Y	The heat input required to bring a generator unit to minimum generation. Entered as value 0 – 99999.	0	0	0	0
Unit Capacity (MIS)	Numeric	N	Automatically populated from MIS data.	NA	NA	NA	NA
Unit Capacity (RLS)	Numeric	Y	The maximum value (in megawatts) at which generator unit can operate. Entered as value 0 – 9999.99	R	R	R	R
				R = Required O = Optional CR = Conditionally Re		ally Requ	uired

Figure 32: Heat Rate Data Segments Page Definition

				Engine Type Group			up
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	A	в	с	D
Segment (MW)	Numeric	N	Automatically populated from Cost Data Segments component.	R	R	R	R
Incremental Heat Rate (BTU/KWh)	Numeric	Y	Heat rate by segment. Entered as value 0 – 99999.	0	0	0	0
	·	·	·	R = Required O = Optional CR = Conditionally Required NA = not applicable		uired	

NA = not applicable

3.3.1.8. How to Enter Heat Rate Data

The *Heat Rate Data* page (Figure 33) is used to enter a generator unit's heat rate information. The *Heat Rate Details* page allows the user to choose the generator unit's minimum generation value from a dropdown list of the values previously entered via the *Cost Data Segments* page. The user will also enter a value for the generator unit's capacity. The page displays the generator unit's capacity as stored in the MIS.

The heat rate segments on this page are brought forward from the segments that were entered on the *Cost Data Segments* page. The user enters the heat rate as a numeric value representing the BTU/KWh for that segment of the generated power.

Note: Heat rates are incremental heat rates and *must* be monotonically increasing.

- 150	Reference Level Soft	tware		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Lo
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site Map			
Home List Submission	s View Submission View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018	
		[View Comments (0)	1	
Heat Rate Details				
Unit Minimum Generation	n (MW) 50 ▼ *			
Heat Input at Min Gen (m	mBTU/hour) 100 *			
Additional DAM MG Add	er (\$/MWh) 5 *			
Additional RT MG Adder	(\$/MWh) 5 *			
Unit Capacity (MIS)	263.6 MW			
Unit Capacity (RLS)	263.6 MW *			
Heat Rate Data Segme	ents			
Segment (MW)	Incremental Heat Rate (BTU/KWh)		Description	
50	10200 *		Lower Operating Limit	
125	10500 *		Middle Operating Limit	
200	11000 *		Upper Operating Limit	
Save Reset Canc	el			
* Denotes required field.				
	Copyright © 2018 New York Inde	pendent System Operator (N	YISO), All rights reserved, Confidential,	

Figure 33: Heat Rate Data Page

Note: Once the data has been saved via activation of the corresponding button, the user always has the option to **Edit Heat Rate** data, by invoking the corresponding link (Figure 34) then completing the additional necessary actions. If a cost data segment is deleted, its associated heat rate data is automatically deleted as well.

Figure 34: Link to Modifying Heat Rate Data

 /50	Reference Level S	Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) <u>Logout</u>
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Site Ma	p		
Home List Submissions	► <u>View Submission</u> ► Heat Rate Date	ta		
Generator Name	Generator A Gas	Owner	Billy Watts	
Engine Type PTID	Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Bidder	Billy Watts	
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission	Submission Time		
Submission Status	DRAFT	Effective Start Date	08/31/2018	
Submission Level		Effective End Date		
		[Compare View Commen	<u>is (0)</u>]	
Heat Rate Details				
Unit Minimum Generation	50			Edit Heat Rate Data
Heat Input at Min Gen (mn	BTU/hour) 100.000 RLS Calculated	MG Heat Rate (mmBTU/hour) 5.0	00	200
Additional DAM MG Adder	r (\$/MWh) 5			
Additional RT MG Adder (\$/MWh) 5			
Unit Capacity (MIS)	263.6 MW			
Unit Capacity (RLS)	203.0 10100			
Heat Rate Data Segmer	nts			
Segment (MW)	Incremental Heat Rate (BTU/KWh)		Description	
50	10,200	Lower Operating Limit	•	
125	10,500	Middle Operating Limit		
200	11,000	Upper Operating Limit		
	Copyright © 2018 New Yor	k Independent System Operator (N	YISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

3.3.1.9. Fuel and Emission Cost Data

Figure 35: Fuel and Emission Cost Data Page Definition

				Engine Type Group			
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	с	D
Fuel Type	Text	N	Selected from a drop-down list of values from MIS.	R	R	R	R
			See Figure 36, on page 28.				
Default Energy for Markets	Radio Button	N	Checkbox selection for Day-Ahead Market (DAM) and/or Real-Time market (RT)	R	R	R	R
Price (\$/mmBTU)	Numeric	Y	Unburdened (no tax or delivery) price associated to fuel type. Entered as a value 0 – 99.9999.	R	R	0	NA
Effective Date	Text	Y	Effective date of fuel type/price entered as mm/dd/yyyy or chosen from the calendar application.	R	R	0	NA
Tax Rate (%)	Numeric	Y	Entered as a value 0 – 99.99999999. Applicable ad valorem tax on fuel	R	R	0	NA
Tax Description	Text	Y	Tax Description, entered as 100- characters of free-form text.	0	0	0	NA
				Eng	jine Ty	pe Gro	oup
---------------------------------	-----------	----------	---	--------	---------	--------	-----
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	с	D
DAM Adder (\$/mmBTU)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 99.99. Applicable flat rate taxes and/or applicable transport and distribution costs and applicable fuel acquisition brokerage fees.	0	0	0	NA
Description	Text	Y	Adder description, entered as 100- characters of free-form text.	0	0	0	NA
RT Adder (\$/mmBTU)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 99.99. Applicable flat rate taxes and/or applicable transport and distribution costs and applicable fuel acquisition brokerage fees.	0	0	0	NA
Description	Text	Y	Adder description, entered as 100- characters of free-form text.	0	0	0	NA
Emission Heat Rate (BTU/KWh)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 99999.	CR	CR	CR	NA
Emission Type	Text	N	Selected from a drop-down list of values populated from MIS.	R	R	R	NA
Emission Rate (lb/mmBTU)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 99.9999.	R	R	CR	NA
Allowance Cost (\$/Ton)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 99999.99.	R	R	CR	NA
Allowance Cost Date	Text	Y	Effective date of allowance value, entered as mm/dd/yyyy or chosen from the calendar application.	R	R	CR	NA
Adder (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 999.99.	0	0	CR	NA
	1			R = Re	equired	•	

O = Optional

CR = Conditionally Required

NA = not applicable

3.3.1.10. Fuel Type

Figure 36: Fuel Types Available as of January 1, 2024

RLS Fuel Type ID	RLS Fuel Type Name	Fuel Type Detailed Description
1	OIL #6 PRICE INDEX	Argus US Products: Fuel oil No6 0.3% high-pour NYH
3	AVG KEROSENE	Argus US Products: Jet/kerosene 55NYH cargo
4	AVG FUEL OIL #2	Argus US Products: Heating Oil 2000ppm NYH delivered
53	ULSD 15ppm NYH barge	Argus US Products: Diesel 15ppm NYH barge – Low
58	ULSK 15ppm NYH barge	Argus US Products: Kerosene 15ppm NYH barge – Low
	-	
2	NG TRANSCO Z6NY	Argus North American Natural Gas: Transco Zone 6 NY
31	NG ALGONQUIN	Argus North American Natural Gas: Algonquin City gates
32	NG IROQUOIS	Argus North American Natural Gas: Iroquois Waddington
37	NG DOMINION SP	Argus North American Natural Gas: Dominion South Point
38	NG DOMINION NP	Argus North American Natural Gas: Dominion North Point
43	NG NIAGARA	Argus North American Natural Gas: Niagara
44	NG TEXAS EAST M3	Argus North American Natural Gas: Texas Eastern Zone M3
45	NG COLUMBIA	Argus North American Natural Gas: Col Gas Appalachia
52	NG IROQUOIS Z2	Argus Natural Gas Americas: Iroquois Zone 2 day-ahead index
54	NG TENNESSEE ZONE 6	Argus Natural Gas Americas: Natural gas hub TGP zone 6 day-ahead Index
55	NG NIT/AECO	Argus Natural Gas Americas: Natural gas hub NIT/AECO day-ahead Index
56	NG HENRY HUB	Argus Natural Gas Americas: Natural gas hub Henry Hub day-ahead Index
57	NG TENN Z-4 200 LINE	Argus Natural Gas Americas: Natural gas hub TGP zone 4 day-ahead Index
59	NG DAWN ONTARIO USD	Argus North American Natural Gas: Dawn Ontario
61	NG TENN Z-5 200 LINE	Argus Natural Gas Americas: Natural gas hub TGP zone 5 day-ahead Index
46	75 TRANSCO 25 OIL #6	(blended from daily index price)
47	25 TRANSCO 75 OIL #6	(blended from daily index price)
48	50 TRANSCO 50 OIL #6	(blended from daily index price)
49	80 TRANSCO 20 OIL #6	(blended from daily index price)
50	75 TRANSCO 25 IROQUS	(blended from daily index price)
51	75 OIL #6, 25 IROQUS	(blended from daily index price)
13	COAL ANTHRACITE	(Not indexed)
14	COAL BIT	(Not indexed)
19	COAL COKE	(Not indexed)
22	HYDRO	(Not indexed)
23	NUCLEAR	(Not indexed)
28	REFUSE	(Not indexed)
30	DIESEL	(Not indexed)
33	WIND	(Not indexed)
34	OTHER	(Not indexed)
39	NG LANDFILL	(Not indexed)
40	WOOD	(Not indexed)
41	TIRES	(Not indexed)
42	BIOMASS	(Not indexed)
62	SOLAR	(Not indexed)
63	STORAGE	(Not indexed)

Note: Fuel types that are indexed daily, are currently indexed using Argus, the service that the NYISO uses to index fuel types may be subject to change.

Fuel types that are *not* indexed daily, will have the fuel price entered (RLS) as a static value. The MP should periodically review this data and update as necessary with a Cost Data Submission.

Canned fuel blends are available but require initial set-up by the NYISO.

3.3.1.11. Emission

Figure 37: Emission Types Available as of September 1, 2010

RLS Emission Type Name	Emission Type Description	Indexed Daily
CO2	CO2: RGGI US Allowance Prompt	Y
NOx CrossSt Annual	CSAPR NOx US annual assessments	Y
NOx Season CSAPR Gp3	CSAPR NOx US seasonal assessments Group 3	Y
SO2 CrossState Grp1	CSAPR SO2 US annual assessments	Y
SO2 (Fed)	SO2 US daily assessment	Y

Note: Emission Types that are indexed daily (Y), are currently using Argus, which can be subject to change. Emission Types that are *not* indexed daily (N), will have the emission price entered (RLS) as a static value. The MP should periodically review this data and update as necessary with a Cost Data Submission.

3.3.1.12. How to Enter Fuel and Emission Cost Data

The Add Fuel Cost page (Figure 38) which can be reached via the Fuel & Emissions Cost Data page, is used to enter the generator fuel and emission costs. For each fuel price entered, the user can add emission costs. When the fuel cost data is saved (

Figure 39), the user can invoke the link to add the emission cost (Figure 40).

Figure 38: Add Fuel Cost Data Page

 150	Reference Level Softw	are		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Site Map			
Home List Submissions	View Submission Fuel & Emissions Cost D	ata 🕨 Add Fuel Cost		
Generator Name Generator Name Cor Engine Type Cor PTID 123	merator A Gas mbined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 3456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Myl Submission Status DR/ Submission Level	NewSubmission IAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018	
Add Fuel Cost				
Fuel Type My New Fuel	¥			
Default Energy Fuel for Markets	DAM RT			
Price (\$/mmBTU) *	Effective Date	*		
Tax Rate (%)	Tax Description			*
DAM Adder (\$/mmBTU)	Description]
RT Adder (\$/mmBTU)	Description			
Emission Heat Rate (BTU/KWh)				
Save Reset Cancel				
* Denotes required field.				
	Copyright © 2018 New York Independ	lent System Operator (I	VYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

Figure 39: Link to Adding Emission Costs

 /50	Reference Leve	el Software	•			Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Sit	е Мар				
Home List Submissions	View Submission Fuel & E	missions Cost Data				
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owr Bidd	ler	Billy Watts Billy Watts		
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Sub Effe Effe	mission Time ctive Start Date ctive End Date	08/31/2018		
		[Compare	e <u>View Commen</u>	<u>ts (0)</u>]		
Generator Fuel Costs						
Expand All 🕒 Collaps	se All					Add Fuel Type Remove Fuel Type
 My New Fuel Default Energy Fuel f 	(edit) or Markets DAM RT					
Price (\$/mmBTU) Tax Rate	\$9.99 9.9%	Effective Date Tax Description	08/03/2018 Enter descripti	on here!		
DAM Adder (\$/mmBT RT Adder (\$/mmBTU)	U)	Description Description				
Emission Heat Rate (BTU/KWh)					
Emission Type	Emission Rate (Ib/mmBT	TU) Alle No emissio	owance Cost (\$/ on costs exist for t	`on) his fuel type.	Allowance Cost Date	Adder (\$/MWh)
	Copyright © 2018 Ne	w York Independent S	ystem Operator (N	IYISO). All rights	reserved. Confidential.	

Figure 40: Add Emission Dialog Box

4 /50	Reference Leve	el Software			Billy Watts (BWATTS)
Generator Cost Data					
Home Home Home	▶ <u>View Submission</u> ▶ Fuel & E				
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456		Billy Watts Billy Watts		
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level					
Generator Fuel Costs Expand All B Collaps I My New Fuel Default Energy Fuel for Default Energy Fuel for	e All edd) or Markets DAM : ;	Add Emission Emission Type Emission Rate (Ib/mmBTU) Allowance Cost (S/Ton)	CO2 •	My New Fuel	
Tax Rate DAM Adder (\$/mmBTU) RT Adder (\$/mmBTU) Emission Heat Rate (E	59.39 9.9% J) 3TU/KWh)	Allowance Cost Date Adder (S/MWh) Add Reset * Denotes required field.	×		
Emission Type	Emission Rate (Ib/mml Copyright © 2018 Ne	No emission costs e w York Independent System Op	exist for this fuel type. Derator (NYISO). All rights re	Allowance Cost Date	Adder (\$/MWh)

Note: Once the Fuel Cost data and Emission Cost data has been saved via activation of the corresponding button, the user always has the option to Add Fuel Type, Edit Fuel Type, or Remove Fuel Type, or Edit, Add, or Remove Emission Type data, by invoking the applicable link (Figure 41) then completing the additional necessary actions. The *Add Fuel Type* link is available while there are remaining defined fuel types for that generator to be added.

Figure 41: Links to Modifying Fuel Cost and Emission Data

-16	Reference Leve	Software		Billy	Watts (BWATTS) Logout
		oonnare			
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site	е Мар			
Home List Submission	View Submission Fuel & Ei	missions Cost Data			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts		
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submiss Effective Effective	sion Time e Start Date 08/31/2018 e End Date		
		[Compare \	/iew Comments (0)]		
Generator Fuel Costs					17 1 2 2 1 7 1
🛍 Expand All 🛛 🖹 Collag	ose All			Add Fu	N
🗉 My New Fuel	(edit)			<u> </u>	4
Default Energy Fuel	for Markets DAM RT				
Price (\$/mmBTU) Tax Rate	\$9.99 9.9%	Effective Date 0 Tax Description E	08/03/2018 Enter description here!		
DAM Adder (\$/mmB ⁻ RT Adder (\$/mmBTU	τυ) I)	Description Description			
Emission Heat Rate	(BTU/KWh)				
Emission Type	Emission Rate (Ib/mmBT	U) Allowa	nce Cost (\$/Ton)	Allowance Cost Date	Edit Add Remove
CO2		9.0000	\$99.00	08/03/2018	\$99.99
	Copyright © 2018 Nev	w York Independent Syste	m Operator (NYISO). All rig	nts reserved. Confidential.	

3.3.1.13. Startup Cost Data

Figure 42: Startup Fuel Type Page Definition

				Eng	ine Ty	pe Gro	up
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	с	D
Fuel Type	Text	N	Selected from a drop-down list of values populated from MIS.	R	R	R	R
Default Startup Fuel for Markets	Radio Button	N	Checkbox selection for DAM and/or RT.	R	R	R	R
				R = Re	equired		
				0 = 0p	otional		
				CR = C	Condition	ally Requ	uired
				NA = n	ot applic	able	

Figure 43: Startup Intervals Page Definition

		_		Eng	ine Ty	pe Gro	up
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	с	D
Relevant Markets	Radio Button	N	Checkbox selection for DAM and/or RT	R	R	R	R
Hours Offline	Numeric	Y	Also referred to as downtime. Entered as value 01 – 999.	R	R	R	R
Description	Text	Y	Description for interval. Entered as up to100-character of free-form text.	0	0	0	0
Fuel Required (mmBTU)	Numeric	Y	Required if a value was entered in Hours Offline. Entered as value 0 – 999999.99.	R	R	CR	CR
Adder (\$/Start)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value -999999.99 – 999999.99.	0	0	CR	CR
				R = Re O = Op CR = 0	equired otional Condition	ally Requ	uired

NA = not applicable

3.3.1.14. How to Enter Startup Data

The Startup Cost Data page (

Figure 44), is used to enter startup costs for a generator unit. All generators are expected to create a submission that reflects their startup costs.

Figure 44: Add Startup Fuel Dialog Box

	Reference	ce Level Softw	are			Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Home List Submission	s View Submission	 Startup Cost Data 				
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7 123456			Billy Watts Billy Watts		
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT se All Copy	Add Startup Fuel Fuel Type Default Startup Fuel for N Enter first interval: Relevant Markets Hours Offline Description Fuel Required (mmBTU) Adder (\$/start) Adder (Reset * Denotes required field.	My New I My New I Ng TRAN ULSD 15p Davin 4	w Fuel	ntal.	

Note: Once the data has been saved via activation of the corresponding button, the user always has the option to **Add Fuel Type**, **Remove Fuel Type**, or **Edit**, **Add**, or **Remove** data by invoking the applicable link (Figure 45) then completing the additional necessary actions. The *Add Fuel Type* option is available if the generator has additional fuel types available.

Figure 45: Links to Modifying Startup Fuel Cost Data

-150	Reference Level So	oftware		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Legout
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Site Map			
Home List Submissions	<u>View Submission</u> Startup Cost Data	1		
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018	
		[Compare View Comment	<u>s (0)</u>]	
Startup Fuel Costs				
电 Expand All 🖶 Collaps	e All			Add Fuel Type Remove Fuel Type
My New Fuel				
Default Startup Fuel fo	or Markets 🗹 DAM 🔲 RT Edit Def	iaults 🖑		
INTERVALS FOR DAM				
Hours Offline	Desc	cription		Fuel Required (mmBTU) Adder (\$/start)
12		E	nter Description	99.99 \$999.99
INTERVALS FOR RT				Edit Add Remove
Hours Offline	Desc	cription	atao Dagasiating 1	Fuel Required (mmBTU) Adder (\$/start)
12		E	nter Description	99.99 2999.99
	Copyright © 2018 New York In	dependent System Operator (N	YISO). All rights re	served. Confidential.

3.3.1.15. Variable Cost Data

This is an optional family for entering variable cost data. Fixed costs are not appropriate.

Figure 46: Variable Production & Operating Maintenance Costs Page Definition

				Eng	ine Ty	pe Gro	up
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	С	D
Segment (MW)	Numeric	N	Pre-populated from Cost Data Segments.				
Var O&M Cost (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 999.99	0	0	0	0
Var O&M Description	Text	Y	Entered as 100-character of free-form text. <i>Note:</i> If you choose to identify a Variable O&M Cost for one or more megawatt segments, A description for each of those megawatts segments is required.	CR	CR	CR	CR
Other Var Cost (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 999.99	0	0	0	0
Other Var Description	Text	Y	Entered as 100-character of free-form text. <i>Note:</i> If you choose to identify any Other Variable O&M Cost for one or more megawatt segments, A description for each of those megawatt segments is required.	CR	CR	CR	CR

			Engi	ine Ty	pe Gro	up
Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	С	D
			R = Re O = Op CR = C NA = n	equired otional Condition	ally Requ	iired
	Data Type	Data Type Editable	Data Type Editable Description	Data Type Editable Description A R = Re 0 = Op CR = C NA = n	Data Type Editable Description A B R = Required O = Optional CR = Condition NA = not applic	Data Type Editable Description A B C R = Required O = Optional C C C R = Required O = Optional C C C NA = not applicable C C C C

Figure 47: Regulatory & Related Costs Page Definition

				Eng	ine Tyj	pe Gro	up
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	A	в	с	D
Source Name	Numeric	Ν	Name associated to the cost. Entered as 30- character free-form text.	R	R	R	R
Description/ Assumptions	Numeric	Y	Free-form area to describe the source cost. Entered as 4000-character free-form text. <i>Note:</i> If you choose to identify a Regulatory Cost for one or more megawatt segments,	CR	CR	CR	CR
			Summary Description will be required.				
Segment (MW)	Text	Y					
Cost (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Source cost entered as a value -999.99 – 999.99. <i>Note:</i> Cost is required for a minimum of one segment.	CR	CR	CR	CR
Description	Text	Y	Entered as 100-character free-form text.	0	0	0	0

3.3.1.16. How to Enter Variable Cost Data

The *Variable Production/O&M Cost* page (Figure 48) is used to enter any variable costs that pertain to the operating and maintenance costs for a generator unit. In addition, this page allows the user to enter regulatory and other costs (Figure 49) that are deemed important in calculating total cost.

Figure 48: Variable Production/O&M Costs Page

Generator Cost D Home > List Submission	Reference ata Reference Levels ions View Submission	Level Software Site Map Jew Variable Costs > Variable Production	/ O&M Costs	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Cl 123456	Owner ass Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Da Effective End Dat	te 08/31/2018 e	
Variable Production	& Operating and Maintena	[<u>View Comments</u>	<u>0)</u>]	
Segment (MW) Var	O&M Cost (\$/MWh)	Var O&M Description	Other Var Cost (\$/MWh)	Other Var Description
50 125 200				
Save Reset Car	ncel Copyright © 2	2018 New York Independent System Operato	(NYISO). All rights rese	rved. Confidential.

Figure 49: Regulatory & Related Costs Page

-150	Reference Level So	ftware		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logo
	Defense Levels Dife Man			
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site Map			
Home List Submission	s View Submission View Variable Cos	Regulatory & Related (Costs	
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018	
		[View Comments (0)]	
Regulatory & Related	Cost Details			
Source Name Description / Assumptions	(h)*		*	
Regulatory Cost Data	Segments			
Segment (MW)	Cost (\$/MWh)		Description	
125				
200				
Save Reset Cance	el			
* Denotes required field.				
	Copyright @ 2018 New York In	dependent System Operator (N	IVISO) All rights reserved Confidential	

Note: Once the data has been saved via activation of the corresponding button, the user always has the option to Edit Variable Production/O&M Costs, Remove Variable Production/O&M Costs, or Add Regulatory & Related Costs, Remove Regulatory & Related Costs, or Edit regulatory and related cost data by invoking the applicable link (Figure 50) then completing the additional necessary actions.

Figure 50: Links to Modifying Variable Production & Operating and Maintenance Costs and Regulatory & Related Costs

	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout							
Generator Co	ost Data	Refere	nce Levels Site	Мар				
Home List Sub	omissions 🕨	View Sub	omission 🕨 Variable C	ost Data				
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Ger Cor 123	nerator / mbined Ci 8456	A Gas ycle - 7FA F-Class	Owner Bidder		Billy Watts Billy Watts		
Submission Name Submission Statu Submission Leve	e Myt us DR/ el	NewSubm AFT	iission	Submission T Effective Start Effective End	ime t Date Date	08/31/2018		
				[Compare View Co	ommen	<u>ts (0)</u>]		
Variable Produc	ction & Oper	rating a	nd Maintenance Cos	sts	_~	Edit Variable Produc	tion / O&M Costs	Remove Variable Production / O&M Costs
Segment (MW)	Var O&M ((\$/MWh	Cost	Var O	&M Description	4	Other Var Cost (\$/MWh)		Other Var Description
50	8	5100.00	O&M Description					
200	3	9999.99	O&M Description					
Regulatory & Re	elated Cost	5			Pogula	tony Cost Add Pogu	atony & Polatod C	acto I Ramava Ragulatary & Related Casto
🔁 Expand All 🗧	^놀 Collapse All				<u>Regui</u>	atory Cost Add Regu	alory & Related C	Keniove Regulatory & Related Costs
⊟ Regulatory So	ource (edit)	4		4	3			
Description /	Assumptions	Sour	rce Description					
Segme	ent (MW) 5	0	Cost (\$/MWh) \$99.99	Reg Cost Description		Desc	ription	
			Copyright © 2018 New	York Independent System Ope	rator (N	IYISO). All rights rese	rved. Confidential.	

3.3.1.17. Risk and Opportunity Cost Data

This is an optional family. If the generator chooses to identify any opportunity costs, the corresponding page is used to enter other costs not pertaining to variable operating costs. This includes risk opportunity and emergency output costs.

				Eng	ine Ty	pe Gro	oup
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	Α	в	с	D
Emergency Cost DAM (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 999.99.	0	0	0	0
Emergency Cost RT (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value 0 – 999.99.	0	0	0	0
Emergency Output MW	Numeric	Ν	Drop-down from segments.	CR	CR	CR	CR
DAM or RT Method of Calculation	Text	Y	Allows user to type in text describing their methodology. Entered as 100-character free-form text.	CR	CR	CR	CR
				R = Re O = Op CR = 0 NA = r	equired otional Condition ot applic	ally Req	uired

Figure 51: Emergency Output Details Page Definition

Note: Cost and Method of Calculation fields are required for at least one market.

Figure 52: Opportunity Cost Details Page Definition

				Engi	ne Type	Grou	р
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	A	в	с	D
Cost (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Entered as value -999.99 – 999.99	0	0	0	0
Segment (MW)	Text	N	Pre-populated from cost data segments.				
Source Name	Text	Y	Entered as 30-character free-form text.	CR	CR	CR	CR
Relevant Market (s)	Radio Button	N	Checkbox selection for DAM and/or RT	CR	CR	CR	CR
Descriptions/ Assumptions	Text	Y	Entered as 4000-character free-form text. List all assumptions and/or methods of calculation.	CR	CR	CR	CR
Description	Text	Y	Entered as 100-character free-form text. Enter any additional description pertaining to the MW segment.	0	0	0	0

Figure 53: Risk Premium Details Page Definition

				Engi	ne Type	Grou	р
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	А	в	С	D
Cost (\$/MWh)	Numeric	Y	Dollar figure representing the risk factor. Entered as a numeric value in the format in the range -999.999 to 999.999.	0	0	0	0
Risk Factor	Text	Y	Allows user to enter risk factor in text form. Entered as a 50-character free-form text.	CR	CR	CR	CR
Relevant Market (s).	Radio Button	N	Checkbox selection for DAM and/or RT	CR	CR	CR	CR
Description/As sumptions	Text	Y	Allows user to enter their description/assumption that specifies their method of calculating the risk factor. Entered as 4000-character free-form text.	CR	CR	CR	CR
Segment (MW)	Numeric	N	Pre-populated from cost data segments				
Description	Text	Y	Entered as 100-character free-form text. Enter any additional description pertaining to the MW segment.	0	0	0	0
				R = Rec	quired		
				O = Opt	ional		
				CR = C	onditionall	y Require	ed

NA = not applicable

3.3.1.18. How to Enter Risk and Opportunity Cost Data

The Risk & Opportunity Cost Data page (Figure 54, Figure 55, and,

Figure 56) serves as the portal for entering other costs not pertaining to variable operating costs.

Figure 54: Emergency Output Details Dialog Box as Accessed from Risk & Opportunity Cost Data Page

4 ,150	Reference Level	Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Home List Submissions	▶ <u>View Submission</u> ▶ Risk & Oppor			
	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456		Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date	08/31/2018	
	Emergency Output Details			×
Emergency Output Deta This submission has no Eme	Emergency Output MW	ds are required for at least one mark	et.	Add Emergency Output Details
Opportunity Cost Detai This submission has no Opp	DAM Cost (\$/MWh) DAM Method of Calculation			Add Opportunity Cost
Risk Premium Details This submission has no Risk	RT Cost (\$/MWh) RT Method of Calculation			Add Risk Premium
	Save Reset * Denotes required field.			

Figure 55: Add Opportunity Cost Page

-15	Reference Level S	oftware	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost I	Data Reference Levels Site Map	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	
Home List Submis	sions 🕨 View Submission 🕨 View Risk & Op	portunity Costs 🕨 Add Oppor	rtunity Cost
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	e 08/31/2018
		[View Comments (0	0.1
Opportunity Cost E	Details		
Source Name		*	
Relevant Markets	DAM RT *		
Description / Assumptions			*
Opportunity Cost	Data Segments		
Segment (MW)	Cost (\$/MWh)		Description
50			
200			
Save Reset Ca	ancel		
2 Shotoo roquirou hor	Copyright © 2018 New York	Independent System Operator	(NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

Figure 56: Add Risk Premium Page

_ [5	Reference Level S	Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Da	ata Reference Levels Site Ma	ар	
Home List Submission	ons View Submission View Risk & C	Opportunity Costs Add Risk Pre	mium
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018
Risk Premium Details	s	[<u>View Comments (0</u>)	1
Risk Factor Relevant Markets	DAM	*	
Description / Assumptions			*
Risk Premium Data S	Segments		
Segment (MW)	Cost (\$/MWh)		Description
50			
125			
200			
Save Reset Can	icel		
* Denotes required field.	Copyright © 2018 New Yor	k Independent System Operator (N	YISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

Note: Once the data has been saved via activation of the corresponding button, the user has the option to Edit Emergency Output Data, Remove Emergency Output Data, or Add Opportunity Cost, Remove Opportunity Cost, or Add Risk Premium or Remove Risk Premium by invoking the applicable link (Figure 57) then completing the additional necessary actions.

Figure 57: Links to Modify Emergency Output Details, Opportunity Cost Details, and Risk Premium Details

 /50	Reference Level Sof	tware	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Site Map		
Home List Submissions	View Submission Risk & Opportunity O	Cost Data	
Generator NameGeEngine TypeCorPTID123	nerator A Gas mbined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 3456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts
Submission Name My Submission Status DR Submission Level	NewSubmission AFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018
		[Compare View Commen	<u>ts (0)</u>]
Emergency Output Details			Edit Emergency Output Details Remove Emergency Output Details
Emergency Output MW	50		
DAM Cost (\$/MWh)	\$50.00		
DAM Method of Calculation	Emergency method calculation		
Opportunity Cost Details			
砲 Expand All 🛛 🔁 Collapse Al	I		
⊡ Source Name (edit)			
Relevant Markets	🖉 DAM 🗹 RT		
Description / Assumption	s Opportunity Cost Description		
Segment (MW)	Cost (\$/MWh) 50 \$99.00		Description
12	25 \$119.00		
20	\$219.00		
Risk Premium Details			
砲 Expand All 🛛 🔁 Collapse Al	I		
🖃 Risk Factor (edit)			
Relevant Markets	🗹 DAM 🗹 RT		
Description / Assumption	 Risk Factor Description 		
Segment (MW)	Cost (\$/MWh)		Description
12	25 \$25.00		
20	\$40.00		
	Copyright © 2018 New York Inde	pendent System Operator (N	YISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

3.3.1.19. Ancillary Services Family

This family is required in order to complete a data submission in RLS. If a generator is capable of providing Regulation services, it is expected that cost data will be provided, however the data fields can be left blank. The corresponding page is used to enter costs pertaining to Regulation Movement variable operating costs. See

Figure 59, Figure 60, and Figure 61 below.

Figure 58: Regulation Movement Cost Details Page Definition

				Engi	ne Type	Grou	р
Page Field	Data Type	Editable	Description	A	В	С	D
Regulation Movement Incremental Energy based Heat Rate Multiplier	Numeric	Y	Entered as value	0	0	0	0
Regulation Movement Default Heat Rate BTU/KWhr	Numeric	Y	Entered as value				
Regulation Movement Default Heat Rate Multiplier	Numeric	Y	Entered as value	0	0	0	0
Regulation Movement Incremental Energy based VOM Multiplier	Numeric	Y	Entered as value	0	0	0	0
Regulation Movement Default VOM \$/MW-Hr	Numeric	Y	Additional VOM due to movement. Entered as value.	0	0	0	0
Regulation Movement Default VOM Multiplier	Numeric	Y	Entered as value	0	0	0	0
Regulation Movement Adder \$/MW-Hr	Numeric	Y	Entered as value	0	0	0	0
				R = F O = 0 CR = Requ NA =	Requirec Optional Conditi iired not app	l onally Ilicable	

3.3.1.20. How to Enter Regulation Movement Cost

Figure 59: Link to Adding Ancillary Services Family

450	Reference Lev	el Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Home Home	15 View Submission			
	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456		Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization DRAFT Generator A Gas 08/31/2018	Add Submission Family	×	
Segment (MW)		Family Type Ancillary Service	es Cost Data ▼	
		Family Name		

Figure 60: Link to Entering Regulation Movement Cost Components

 /SC	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout		
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels	Site Map	
Home List Submissions	View Submission An	cillary Services Cost Data	
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission	Submission Time	
Submission Status	DRAFT	Effective Start Date 08/31/2018	
Submission Level		Effective End Date	
		[Compare View Comments (0)]	
Regulation Movement	Costs		
	Copyright © 20	18 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	Add Regulation Movement Costs

Figure 61: Regulation Movement Costs

Generator Cost Data Reference Levels Site Map Home List Submissions View Submission Ancillary Services Cost Data Regulation Movement Costs Regulation Movement Incremental Energy based Heat Rate Multiplier * * *	
Home List Submissions View Submission Ancillary Services Cost Data Regulation Movement Costs Regulation Movement Incremental Energy based Heat Rate Multiplier * *	
Regulation Movement Incremental Energy based Heat Rate Multiplier	
Regulation Movement Default Heat Rate	
Regulation Movement Default Heat Rate Multiplier *	
Regulation Movement Incremental Energy based VOM Multiplier *	
Regulation Movement Default VOM *	
Regulation Movement Default VOM Multiplier *	
Regulation Movement Adder *	
Save Reset Cancel	
Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

Note: Once the data has been saved via activation of the corresponding button, the user has the option to **Edit Regulation Movement Cost Data**,

3.3.2. How to Copy a Submission

Users can copy the information from an existing Cost Data Submission via a link on the *View Submission* page (Figure 62). Invoking this link will open a dialog box where the user can enter a new submission name and new effective start date and effective end date, as well as choose which cost data families to copy (Figure 63). If necessary, the user can cancel out of the copy process by clicking on the **X** in the upper-right corner of the dialog box.

Figure 62: Copy Submission Link

-15		Reference Le	evel So	ftware		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
		Peference Lovele	Cite Man			
Generator Cost Dat	a i	Reference Levels	Site Map			
Home List Submission	s 🕨)	/iew Submission				
Generator Name	Gene	erator A Gas		Owner	Billy Watts	
Engine Type	Com	bined Cycle - 7FA F-Class		Bidder	Billy Watts	
PTID	1234	56				
[Download Submis	sion	Copy Submission Remo	ve Submission	n <u>View Summary</u> <u>View Comments (0</u>)	Submit Submission For Approval CMMT Details]	<u>View Submission</u> <u>Compare</u> <u>Attachments (0)</u>
Submission Details						Edit Datalla
Submission Name	MyN	ewSubmission				Edit Details
Submission Created	07/30	0/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT				
Submission Created By	Billy	Watts (BWATTS)				
Submission Owner Org	Billy	Watts Organization				
Submission Status	DRA	FT				
Generator Name	Gen	erator A Gas				
Effective Start Date	08/3	1/2018				
Effective End Date						
Cost Data Segments						
Segment (MW)					Description	Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
	50	Lower Operating Limit				
	125	Middle Operating Limit				
	200	Upper Operating Limit				
Cost Data Families						Damaua Family
				Family	Name	<u>Remove Family</u>
Generator Contacts						
Heat Rate Data						

Figure 63: Copy Submission Dialog Box



Note: The *Submission Name*, *Effective Start Date*, and *Effective End Date* are populated by default with the name and dates of the submission that is being copied. Even if the user does not enter new data in these fields, the copy will be saved with a new *Created Date*.

After a copied submission is successfully saved, the application will display the copied submission rather than the original submission.

3.3.3. How to Remove a Submission

Only those Cost Data Submissions having a status of *DRAFT* can be removed.

Figure 64 illustrates the **Remove Submission** link on the *View Submissions* page, Invoking this link results in the display of a confirmation prompt via which the user indicates whether to complete the removal process (Figure 65). If necessary, the user can cancel out of the removal process by clicking on the **X** in the upper-right corner of the confirmation prompt.

		10 1		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
	Reference Lev	el Software		
Generator Cost Data	a Reference Levels S	пе мар		
Home List Submission:	View Submission			
Generator Name	Generator A Gas	Owner	Billy Watts	
Engine Type	Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class	Bidder	Billy Watts	
PTID	123456			
Download Submis	sion I Copy Submission I Remove	Submission View Summary Submi	Submission For Approval	View Submission Compare Attachments (0)
		My View Comments (0) CMM	IT Details]	
But with a loss Batalla				
Submission Details				Edit Details
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission			
Submission Created	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT			
Submission Created By	Billy Watts (BWATTS)			
Submission Owner Org	Billy Watts Organization			
Submission Status	DRAFT SI	ibmission Status must be DRAFT		
Effective Start Date	Generator A Gas	r "Remove Submission" to work		
Effective End Date	00/31/2010			
Cost Data Segments				
				Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
Segment (MW)			Description	
	50 Lower Operating Limit			
	125 Middle Operating Limit			
Cost Data Families	200 Opper Operating Limit			
				Remove Family
		Family Name		<u></u> ,.
Generator Contacts				
Heat Rate Data				

Figure 64: Remove Submission Link

Figure 65: Remove Submission Confirmation Prompt

4150	Reference L	evel Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Dat				
Home List Submission	s View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Cl 123456		Billy Watts Billy Watts	
[Download Submis				
Submission Details				
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM ED Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization DRAFT Generator A Gas 08/31/2018			
Cost Data Segments				
Segment (MW)	50 Lower Operating Lin 125 Middle Operating Lin 200 Upper Operating Lin	Remove Submission Are you sure you want to delete s Yes	ubmission "MyNewSubmission": No	Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
Cost Data Families				
			Name	
Generator Contacts				
Heat Rate Data				

3.3.4. How to Rescind a Submission

Only those Cost Data Submission having a status of *SUBMITTED*, can be rescinded.

Figure 66 illustrates the **Rescind Submission** link on the *View Submissions* page. Invoking this link results in the display of a confirmation prompt via which the user indicates whether to complete the rescinding process (

Figure 67). If necessary, the user cancels out of the rescinding process by clicking on the X in the

upper-right corner of the confirmation prompt.

Note: Once a submission has been rescinded, the submission can no longer be edited or removed. The user can copy the submission, make any changes and then submit the new submission.

Figure 66: Rescind Submission Link

 /50	Reference Le	vel Software Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout			
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels	Site Map			
Home List Submission	S View Submission				
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Billy Watts Bidder Billy Watts			
[Download Submission	on <u>Copy Submission</u> <u>Rescind</u>	Submission View Summary, View Submission Compare Attachments (0) View Comments (0) CMMT Details]			
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Submission Time Submission Level Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date Cost Data Segments	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10.19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization SUBMITTED Billy Watts (BWATTS) 08/03/2018 08:9:55 AM EDT NORMAL Generator A Gas 08/05/2018	Submission Status must be SUBMITTED for "Rescind Submission" to work			
Segment (MW)	47	Description			
Cost Data Families					
	Family Name	Approval Status			
Fuel & Emission Cost Data		Pending			
	Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.				

Figure 67: Rescind Submission Confirmation Prompt

4,50	Reference Lev	el Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data			
Home List Submissions	View Submission		
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Billy Watts Bidder Billy Watts	
[Download Submissi			
Submission Details			
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Submission Status Submission Time Submission Level Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts (BWATTS) 08/03/2018 08:39:55 AM EDT NORMAL Generator A Gas 02/27/2014	Rescind Submission	×
Cost Data Segments		Are you sure you want to rescind "My New Submissio	n"?
Segment (MW)	47	Yes No	
Cost Data Families		-	
Fuel & Emission Cost Data			
	Copyright © 2018 N		served. Confidential.

3.3.5. How to View a Submission Summary

Via the **View Summary** link on the *View Submission* page (Figure 68), users can verify the cost data and total calculations before submitting the cost data to the NYISO for approval, as well as view validation checks before submitting the cost data.

Figure 68: View Summary Link

 /50	Reference Lev	el Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels	ite Map		
Home List Submissions	View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
[Download Submiss	ion Copy Submission Remove	Submission View Summary View Comments (0)	Submit Submission For Approval CMMT Details]	<u>View Submission</u> <u>Compare</u> <u>Attachments (0</u>)
Submission Details				
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission			Edit Details
Submission Created	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT			
Submission Created By	Billy Watts (BWATTS)			
Submission Owner Org	Billy Watts Organization			
Generator Name	Generator A Gas			
Effective Start Date	08/31/2018			
Effective End Date				
Cost Data Segments				
Segment (MW)			Description	Eart Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
	50 Lower Operating Limit			
	125 Middle Operating Limit			

When the user invokes the *View Summary* link, the RLS application performs checks and validations against the data on the Cost Data Submission. Figure 75, on the *Submission Validation Errors* section, lists all the edits performed by the RLS application. Those checks and validations having a *Y* in the *Check on View Summary* column of the table, are performed when the user invokes the *View Summary* link. Any violations (i.e., errors) found will be displayed to the user (Figure 69). If no errors exist, the user may view the summary. Otherwise, the errors must be corrected before viewing the summary.

In response to the user invoking the *View Summary* link, the RLS application will calculate sample cost based references for Start-Up, MinGen and Energy references based on the Cost Data Submission data. The application will also plot Energy and MinGen values to show a cost based reference curve.

Figure 70 illustrates the results of the Cost-Based reference curve calculation.

Figure 69: Submission Summary with Violations (Errors)

Generator Cost Dat	Reference Level a Reference Levels Site s View Submission	el Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018	l a
Submission Violations				
Violation Name Missing Emission Heat Ra Missing Costs for Fuel Typ Default Flag Violation Default Flag Violation	e te Missing emission heat rat we Missing fuel costs for fuel Missing default ENERGY Missing default ENERGY	e for fuel type Atlantic Gas type South China Sea Light Gas flag for real-time market. flag for day ahead market.	/iolation Message	
Default Flag Violation	Missing default STARTUF Copyright © 2018 Nev	o flag for real-time market. v York Independent System Operator (N	IYISO). All rights res	erved. Confidential.

Figure 70: Submission Summary



3.3.6. How to Submit a Submission for Approval

After completing the entry for a Cost Data Submission and viewing the corresponding summary, the user would next submit the Cost Data Submission for NYISO approval by invoking the **Submit For Approval** link on the *View Submission* page (Figure 71).

	Reference L	evel Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
	Kelerence L	eversonware		
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels	Site Map		
Home List Submissions	View Submission			
Generator Name	Generator A Gas	Owner	Billy Watts	
Engine Type PTID	Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Clas 123456	ss Bidder	Billy Watts	
[Download Submiss	ion Copy Submission Rem	nove Submission View Summa View Comments	ary <u>Submit Submission For Approva</u> s (0) <u>CMMT Details</u>] (h)	I View Submission Compare Attachments (0)
Submission Details				
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission			Edit Detail
Submission Created	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM ED	т		
Submission Created By	Billy Watts (BWATTS)			
Submission Owner Org	Billy Watts Organization			
Constant Name	Generator A Gas			
Effective Start Date	08/31/2018			
Effective End Date	00012010			
Cost Data Segments				
				Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segmen
Segment (MW)			Description	
	50 Lower Operating Limit			
	125 Middle Operating Limit			
	200 Opper Operating Linit			
Cost Data Families				
				Remove Famil
		Fan	nily Name	
Senerator Contacts				
leat Rate Data				

Figure 71: Submit For Approval Link

In response, the RLS application displays a confirmation prompt. If necessary, the user can cancel out of the submission process by clicking on the **X** in the upper-right corner of the confirmation prompt. To instead proceed with the submission process, the user must first choose from the drop-down list displayed in the prompt either *Normal* or *Urgent* to indicate the appropriate level of submission (Figure 72).

Note: The Urgent level should be used for significant increases/decreases in costs requiring immediate attention.

Figure 72: Cost Data Submission Confirmation Prompt Reflecting Submission Level Drop-down List

4150	Reference Le	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Dat		
Home List Submission	s View Submission	
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Cla 123456	Owner Billy Watts Bidder Billy Watts
[Download Submis		
Submission Details Submission Name		
Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization DRAFT Generator A Gas 08/31/2018	
Cost Data Segments		ost Data Submission Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
Segment (MW)		re you sure you want to submit "MyNewSubmission" for approval?
	125 Middle Operating Li 200 Upper Operating Li	ubmission Level NORMAL NORMAL NORMAL NO
Cost Data Families		URGENT Remove Family
		Family Name
Generator Contacts		
Heat Rate Data		
Fuel & Emission Cost Data		

After choosing the submission level, the user must then choose *Yes* to proceed with the submission process. In response, the RLS application will perform validations against the data on the Cost Data Submission. Figure 75, on the *Submission Validation Errors* section, lists all the checks and validations performed by the RLS application. Those checks and validations having a *Y* in the *Check on Submit* column are performed when the user invokes the *Submit For Approval* link. Any violations (i.e., errors) found will be displayed to the user (Figure 73). The MP cannot submit a Cost Data Submission until it is error free. Once the Cost Data Submission is free of errors, the RLS application will display a message indicating the submission has occurred (Figure 74).

Note: Once a submission has been submitted, it can no longer be edited or removed. However, the user can copy the submission, make desired changes, and then submit a new submission.

Figure 73: Submission for Approval with Violations (Errors)

Generator Cost Data	Rei	ference Level S	oftware			Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Home List Submissions	View S	Submission				
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generato Combined 123456	r A Gas Cycle - 7FA F-Class	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts		
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSu SUBMITT NORMAL	Ibmission ED	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/03/2018 10:23:4 08/31/2018	8 AM EDT	
Submission Violations						
Violation Name Incomplete Segments	e	Submission must include segm	ents up to the unit capacity speci	Violation Message fied.		
Missing Emission Heat Ra	te	Missing emission heat rate for	fuel type Atlantic Gas			
Missing Costs for Fuel Typ	e	Missing fuel costs for fuel type	South China Sea Light Gas			
Default Flag Violation	Default Flag Violation Missing default ENERGY flag for real-time market.					
Default Flag Violation Missing default ENERGY flag for day ahead market.						
Default Flag Violation		Missing default STARTUP flag	for real-time market.			
		Copyright © 2018 New York	Independent System Operator (N	VYISO). All rights rese	erved. Confidential.	

Figure 74: Successful RLS Submission for Approval

 /SC	Reference Level So	oftware	Billy Watts (BWATTS) <u>Logout</u>
Generator Cost Data	a Reference Levels Site Map		
Home List Submissions	View Submission		_
Submission "MyNewSub	mission" has been submitted with submissio	on level NORMAL.	
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts
[Download Submissi	on Copy Submission Rescind Submission	View Summary View	Submission Compare Attachments (0) View Comments (0) CMMT Details]
Submission Details			
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Submission Status Submission Time Submission Level Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization SUBMITED Billy Watts (BWATTS) 08/03/2018 10:35:03 AM EDT NORMAL Generator A Gas 10/01/2018	G	
Cost Data Segments			
Segment (MW)			Description

3.3.6.1. Submission Validation Errors

Figure 75: Submission Violations

Violation Name	Check on Submit	Check on View Summary	Violation Message	Clarification
Empty Submission	Y	Y	Submission must include at least one cost data family.	
Invalid Submission Effective Dates	Y	N	Submission effective end dates may not be in the past.	If effective end dates are in the past, the submission would never be used for cost based reference data in the RCE.
Conflicting Fuel Type	Y	Y	Submissions can't have conflicting fuel configurations for the effective date period.	Fuel types for generators have effective dates. A submission specifying fuel configurations must specify them for the entire submission period. If the submission period were to stretch beyond the effective period for a fuel type, the configuration would be invalid for that fuel type.
Conflicting Engine Type Group	Y	Y	Submission can't have conflicting engine type group for the effective date period.	Like fuel types, engine type group for generators have effective dates.
Overlapping Submission	Y	N	Pending submission '[overlapping submission]' name overlaps the effective date range of this submission and contains [overlapping families]. Rescind submission '[overlapping submission name]', wait for '[overlapping submission name]' to be approved, or remove the conflicting families.	Users cannot submit multiple submissions with the same families at the same time. I.e., there can only be one family of each type in the approval process. This violation is triggered if there exists a submission with state <i>SUBMITTED</i> that has at least one family the current submission has.
No Segments	Y	Y	A submission with segmented families must include at least one segment.	
Invalid Incremental Heat Rate	Y	Y	Incremental heat rate not allowed for this engine type group.	Incremental heat rate is not applicable for some engine types (e.g., wind, hydro)
Missing Approved Cost Data	Y	Y	There is no approved cost data for the period ranging from [submission start date] to [submission end date]. Please include all families in this submission.	Approved cost data must always have all six families, so if there is a period of time the submission overlaps that has no cost data; it must have all families to fill the period.
Inconsistent Segments	Y	Y	Submission segments are not consistent with the approved cost data for the period ranging from [submission start date] to [submission end date]. Please include all segmented families in this submission.	Segmented cost data families must all specify cost data for the same segments. So if segments change for one segmented family, they change for all segmented families.

Violation Name	Check on Submit	Check on View Summary	Violation Message	Clarification
Incomplete Segments	Y	Y	Submission must include segments up to the unit capacity specified.	There must be a segment with a megawatt value of the unit capacity specified in the heat rate cost family.
Unit Capacity Too Small	Y	Ν	Unit capacity specified must be equal to or greater than the MIS value.	Unit capacity is specified in RLS and in MIS. If the user specifies an RLS value smaller than the value in MIS, to the user must either change the value in RLS or update their unit capacity in MIS.
Missing Emission Heat Rate	Y	Y	Missing emission heat rate for fuel type [fuel type].	If a Fuel & Emission Cost Data Family has emission costs entered for a fuel type, the generator must have an emission heat rate entered.
Missing Costs for Fuel Type	Y	Y	Missing fuel costs for fuel type [fuel type].	A Fuel & Emission Cost Data Family must have a generator fuel cost for every fuel type available to the generator.
Invalid Fuel for Generator Fuel Cost	Y	Y	The fuel type [fuel type] is not available for generator [generator] in the period ranging from [invalid start date] to [invalid end date].	Fuel types have effective start and end dates. They must be effective across the entire submission. (If the submission start date is in the past, the fuel type must be effective from the current date to the submission end date.) This violation is triggered if the fuel emission family of the submission has a gen fuel cost defined for an invalid fuel type.
Invalid Startup Fuel Type	Y	Y	The fuel type [fuel type] is not available for generator [generator] in the period ranging from [invalid start date] to [invalid end date].	Fuel types have effective start and end dates. They must be effective across the entire submission. (If the submission start date is in the past, the fuel type must be effective from the current date to the submission end date.) This violation is triggered if the startup family of the submission has startup intervals defined for an invalid fuel type.
Invalid MinGen Segment	Y	Y	MinGen not allowed for a unit with this engine type group.	Some engine types (e.g., gas turbines) do not ordinarily incorporate a minimum generation component in their offers.

Violation Name	Check on Submit	Check on View Summary	Violation Message	Clarification
Default Flag Violation	Y	Y	 (If there are no defaults) Missing default [energy or startup] flag for [DAM orRT] market. (If there is more than one default) More than one default [energy or startup] flags for [DAMorRT] market. 	One default fuel is required for each market in the fuel emissions family. One default startup fuel is required for each market in the startup family.
Missing Engine Type	Ν	Ν	Engine class <class> is not permitted for generators with PTID <ptid> because it has no engine type.</ptid></class>	The user tried to upload cost data for a generator that has no engine type assigned to it for the date specified. THIS IS AN XML VALIDATION ONLY. CHECKED WHEN UPLOADING XML data. Note: Please contact your Customer Service Representative.
Missing Ancillary Cost Data	Y	N	Missing Ancillary Services Cost Data.	The user tried to summit cost data without adding The Ancillary Services Family

3.3.7. How to Compare a Submission

Users can compare a Cost Data Submission to either the current *Approved* cost data for the generator or to another Cost Data Submission by invoking the **Compare Cost Data** link on the *View Submission* page (Figure 76).

Figure 76: Compare Link

Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout Generator Cost Data Reference Levels Site Map Home > List Submissions > View Submission				
Generator Name	Generator A Gas	Owner	Billy Watts	
Engine Type	Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class	Bidder	Billy Watts	
PTID	123456			
[<u>Download Submis</u>	sion Copy Submission Remove Subr	nission <u>View Summary</u> <u>Sub</u> <u>View Comments (0)</u> <u>Cl</u>	mit Submission For Appro MMT Details]	oval <u>View Submission</u> <u>Compare</u> <u>Attachments (0)</u>
Submission Details				
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission			Edit Details
Submission Created	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT			
Submission Created By	Billy Watts (BWATTS)			
Submission Owner Org	Billy Watts Organization			
Submission Status	DRAFT			
Generator Name	Generator A Gas			
Effective Start Date	08/31/2018			
Effective End Date				
Cost Data Segments				
				Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
Segment (MW)			Description	
	50 Lower Operating Limit			
	125 Middle Operating Limit			

Figure 77 and Figure 78, illustrate the Compare Cost Data page, where the user can choose the *Approved* cost data or another Cost Data Submission for comparison.

Figure 77: Approved Cost Data on Compare Cost Data Page

Reference	e Level Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Lo
Generator Cost Data Reference Lev	rels Site Map	
ome List Submissions View Submission	Compare Cost Data	
elected Submission		
ubmission Time ubmission Name MyNewSubmission	Effective Start Date 0 Effective End Date	3/31/2018
ompare Cost Data With	User can select the gener	ator's current "Approved" cost data for comparison
Approved Cost Data Cost Data Submission		
Generator Generator A Gas Cost Data 05/01/2018 03:04:35 PM EDT - i	Include History	Compare
Generator A Gas Effective Start Date 05/01/2018 03:04:35 F Effective End Date	PM EDT	
Family Name	Submission Time	Submission Name
Generator Contacts	05/01/2018 03:01:43 PM EDT	MyNewSubmission
Heat Rate Data	05/01/2018 03:01:43 PM EDT	MyNewSubmission
Fuel & Emission Cost Data	05/01/2018 03:01:43 PM EDT	MyNewSubmission
Startup Cost Data	05/01/2018 03:01:43 PM EDT	MyNewSubmission
Variable Cost Data	05/01/2018 03:01:43 PM EDT	MyNewSubmission
Risk & Opportunity Cost Data	05/01/2018 03:01:43 PM EDT	MyNewSubmission
Ancillary Services Cost Data	05/01/2018 03:01:43 PM EDT	MyNewSubmission
Copyrig	nt © 2018 New York Independent System Opera	tor (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

Figure	78: Other	Cost Data	Submissions on	Compare	Cost Data F	Page
1.6410		oot butu		oompuro	ooot butu i	

Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout						
Generator Cost Data Refe	rence Levels Site Map					
Home List Submissions View	Submission Compare Cost Data					
Selected Submission						
Submission Time Submission Name MyNewSubmission	Effec	tive Start Date tive End Date	08/31/2018			
Compare Cost Data With	User can se	lect another Cost	Data Submission for compariso	n		
Approved Cost Data Cost Data	Submission re.					
Created	Name	<u>Status</u>	Submitted	Level	Effective Start Date	Effective End Date
05/26/2017 02:30:22 PM EDT 05/31/2016 03:18:17 PM EDT 05/31/2016 02:05:43 PM EDT	MyPreviousNewSubmission LastMonth Submission LastYearSubmission	APPROVED APPROVED RESCINDED	05/26/2017 03:20:40 PM EDT 05/31/2016 03:19:40 PM EDT 05/31/2016 02:09:08 PM EDT	NORMAL NORMAL	05/29/2017 06/01/2016 06/01/2016	
05/31/2016 08:52:28 AM EDT	FirstSubmission	RESCINDED	05/31/2016 08:53:19 AM EDT	NORMAL	06/01/2016	
Showing 1 to 10 of 38 entries	Showing 1 to 10 of 38 entries					
Filtering						
Submission Name						
Lowe	r Limit Upper Limit					

The RLS application compares the cost data and displays the data side by side (Figure 79). By default only the cost data families with differences are displayed and the differences highlighted. By invoking **Show All** link (Figure 29); however, the user can instruct the application to display all the cost data families, regardless of any differences.

Figure 79: Side-by-Side Cost Data Comparison

Generator	
Generator Name NYPAASTORIA_CC1 Owner Engine Type Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class Bidder PTID 123456	Billy Watts Billy Watts
Selected Submission	Compare With Approved Cost Data
Submission Time Effective Start Date 08/31/2018 Submission Name MyNewSubmission Effective End Date	Effective Start 05/01/2018 03:04:35 PM EDT Effective End Date
Generator Contacts	Generator Contacts
Unit Infomation	Unit Infomation
Unit Designation energy Force 1	+
Commercial Date 07/31/2018	Commercial Date 08/03/2007
Reference Price Primary	Reference Price Primary
Name Billy Watts	Name Billy Watts
Phone 888-777-6666	Phone 888-777-6666
Email bWatts@Watts.org	Email bWatts@Watts.org
Owner Primary	Owner Primary
Name Billy Watts	Name Billy Watts
Phone 888-777-6666	Phone 888-777-6666
Email bWatts@Watts.org	Email bWatts@Watts.org
Bidder Primary	Bidder Primary
Name Billy Watts	Name Billy Watts
Phone 888-777-6666	Phone 888-777-6666
Email bWatts@Watts.org	Email bWatts@Watts.org
Heat Rate Data	Heat Rate Data
Heat Input at Min Gen (mmBTU/hour) 100.000	Heat Input at Min Gen (mmBTU/hour) 1240.000
Unit Minimum Generation 50	Unit Minimum Generation 150

3.3.8. How to Add an Attachments to a Submission

Users can upload and attach any pertinent documentation that supports the Cost Data Submission. The RLS application supports all document types (i.e., .doc, .xls, .ppt, .pdf, .zip, .wpd, .xlsx), with attachment file size and quantity limitations being as follows:

- 2 mb per attachment
- 20 mb total per Cost Data Submission
- 10 total attachments per Cost Data Submission

Attachments upload is initiated by invoking the **Attachments** link (Figure 80) on the *View Submission* page, which results in the display of the *View Cost Data Attachment* page.

Figure 80: Attachments Link

-150	Reference Leve	l Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site	Мар		
Home List Submission	s View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
[Download Submis	ssion <u>Copy Submission</u> <u>Remove Su</u>	bmission <u>View Summary</u> <u>Su</u> <u>View Comments (0)</u> <u>(</u>	bmit Submission For Approv CMMT Details]	<u>val View Submission Compare Attachments (0)</u>
Submission Details				Edit Dotaile
Submission Name	MyNewSubmission			<u>Eult Details</u>
Submission Created	07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT			
Submission Created By	Billy Watts (BWATTS)			
Submission Owner Org	Billy Watts Organization			
Submission Status	DRAFT			
Generator Name	Generator A Gas			
Effective End Date	06/31/2018			
Cost Data Segments				
				Eait Segments Add Segment Remove Segment
Segment (MW)			Description	
	125 Middle Operating Limit			
	120 - Mildure operating Ellint			

To proceed with the attachment upload, the user would next invoke the Upload File link (

Figure 81), which results in the display of the *Upload Cost Data Attachment* page.



Billy Watts (BWATTS)						
Generator Cost Data	a Reference Levels	Site Map				
Home List Submissions	View Submission					
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456		Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts		
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT		Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018		
Cost Data Attachments						
There are no attachments for this submission.						
NYISO Only Attachments						
There are no NYISO Only attachments for this submission.						
Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.						

On the *Upload Cost Data Attachment* page (Figure 82), the user would next choose the file to be uploaded, invoking the **Browse** button then in the File Open dialog box taking the necessary steps to locate and choose the file in question. Finally, the user would invoke the **Submit** button to upload the file.

Note: The user can also cancel the upload attachment process by invoking the **Cancel** button prior to submitting the request.

Figure 82: Mechanisms for Selecting an Attachment File for Upload and Submitting or Canceling Upload

Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout							
Home ▶ List Submissions ▶ View Submission							
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	NYPAASTORIA_CC1 Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts				
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018				
Upload Cost Data Attachment							
User can select a file to attach User can "Cancel" the request User can "Cancel" the request							
Denotes required treat. User selects "Submit" to upload Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.							

After a file has been uploaded, the RLS application displays the details from the file that was uploaded, and the user can upload additional files or delete any existing attachments (Figure 83).

Figure 83: View Cost Data Attachments Page Reflecting Uploaded Attachments and Related Options

Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout							
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Site Map						
Home List Submissions	 View Submission 						
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	NYPAASTORIA_CC1 Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts				
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission DRAFT	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/31/2018				
Cost Data Attachments	:			User can attach additional files			
File	Name	Timestam	n	Size			
Fuel Cost by Supplier.xls 08/03/2018		01:06:51 PM EDT	P	54.5 KB Delete			
3	User can click on an attachment to	open it and view its contents		User can delete an attachment			
NYISO Only Attachmer	its						
There are no NYISO Only attachments for this submission.							
Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.							

3.3.9. How to Add or View Comments for a Submission

The RLS application provides a means for communication between the MP and NYISO via comments, which can be added and viewed by both parties on two levels: Cost Data Submission family and overall Cost
Data Submission. The MP initiates comment submission by invoking the **View Comments** link on the *View Submission* page (Figure 84).

Figure 84: View Comments Link

 /50	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout							
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site	е Мар						
Home List Submission	S View Submission							
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts					
[<u>Download Submis</u> Submission Details	sion Copy Submission Remove Su	Ubmission View Summary Sub View Comments (0) Cl	omit Submission For Appro MMT Details]	val <u>View Submission</u> <u>Compare</u> <u>Attachments (1)</u>				
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Owner Org Submission Status Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization DRAFT Generator A Gas 08/31/2018			<u>Edit Details</u>				
Cost Data Segments Segment (MW)			Description	Edit Segments Add Segment Remove Segment				

In response, the RLS application displays the *Comments* dialog box (Figure 85), where the user can view the comments for the Cost Data Submission, add/submit a comment, and print the comments. By default, the RLS application displays only those comments entered at the overall Cost Data Submission level. The user can, however, have the RLS application also display comments for the Cost Data Submission families, by enabling the **Show All Comments** option.

Note: When finished working with comments, the user can exit the Comments dialog box by clicking on the **X** in the upper-right corner.

Figure 85: Comments Dialog Box

4 /50	Reference Level So	oftware	Ar	nthony Orlando (ORLANDO) Logout
Home 🕨 List Submission	s 🕨 View Submission			
	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456		Billy Watts Billy Watts	
	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization DRAFT Generator A Gas			
Comments				×
電 Expand All 탄 Collapse All 🔲 Shi	ow All Commments		User can print	the comments Printer-friendly
Billy Watts Comment 2	Comments sect	ion		08/03/2018 01:24:50 PM EDT
Billy Watts Comment 1				08/03/2018 01:24:41 PM EDT
Add to Submission		Subm	It User can add more comments	

4. Upload/Download Cost Data In XML Format

The XML Upload/Download feature has been retired from RLS.

5. List Submissions

This section describes the RLS application's List Submission feature, outlining the sequence of activities.

5.1. How to List Submissions

The RLS application allows the user to view a list of all their associated Cost Data Submissions filtered based on user preference.

This task in initiated by choosing the **List Submissions** option from the **Reference Levels** menu (Figure 86).

Figure 86: Access Path for Viewing Cost Data Submissions

	Billy Watts (BWATTS)						
	Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels S	ite Map				
1	Cost Data Submissions	Create New Submission					
	View Approved Cost Data	Upload Cost Data					
1		List Submissions				Acknowledge All V	iew Notification History
	Sent	(^h) Nam	e		Message		
	10:55:48 AM EDT	Submission Rescind	ed	Cost Data Submission			\otimes
	1 08/03/2018 09:01:08 AM EDT	Submission Rescind	ed	Cost Data Submission			\otimes
	107/06/2018 10:13:33 AM EDT	Submission Rescind	ed	Cost Data Submission			\otimes

In response, the RLS application displays the *List Submissions* page (Figure 8787), where the upper section reflects a list of all Cost Data Submissions sorted by creation date in descending order, and the lower section reflects filters allowing the user to narrow the display of Cost Data Submissions by any or all of the following parameters:

- Submission Name
- Created Date (lower and upper limits)
- Submission Date (lower and upper limits)
- Effective Start Date (lower and upper limits)
- Effective End Date (lower and upper limits)
- Submission Status
- Generator Name
- Submission Level

Figure 87: List Cost Data Submissions

_ /5	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout						
Generator Cost I	Data Reference Levels	Site Map					
Home List Submis	sions						
Cost Data Submiss	ions						
Show 25 T	User can select the nu	mber of submission to display per page					
10 <u>d</u>	▼ <u>Name</u>	Generator	Status	Submitted	Level Start Date Date		
07/30 25 0:19:55 AM E	MyNewSubmission	Generator A Gas	DRAFT		08/31/2018		
Showi 50 of 1 ent	ries				<< < 1 > >>>		
Filtering							
	Lower Limit Up	per Limit					
Submission Name							
Created Date	07/08/2018						
Submission Date							
Effective Start Date							
Effective End Date			-				
Submission Status	APPROVED DRAFT INVALIDATED REJECTED RESCINDED SUBMITTED						
Generator	Generator A Gas Generator B Gas Generator C Generator D Nuke Generator E	- -					
Submission Level	NORMAL URGENT						
Search Reset							
	Copyright © 20	018 New York Independent System Operato	r (NYISO). All right	s reserved. Confidential.			

6. View Approved Cost Data

This section describes the RLS application's View Approved Cost Data feature, outlining the sequence of activities.

6.1. How to View Approved Cost Data

The RLS Application allows users to view approved cost data. This task in initiated by choosing the **View Approve Cost Data** option from the **Generator Cost Data** menu (

Figure 88).

Figure 88: Access Path for Initiating Display of Approved Cost Data

Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout					
Generator Cost Data Refe	rence Levels Site Map				
Cost Data Submissions	•				
View Approved Cost Data					
				Acknowledge All View Notification History	
Sent	Name		Message		
108/03/2018 10:55:48 AM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		\otimes	
	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		\otimes	
107/06/2018 10:13:33 AM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		\otimes	
	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		\otimes	
• 07/29/2016 10:06:21 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		\otimes	

In response, the RLS application displays the *Approved Cost Data* page (Figure 89), where the user would next choose a generator from the drop-down list of user-approved generators then indicate via the **Include History** option whether the application should provide access to expired approved data for viewing. The RLS application responds by populating the Cost Data drop-down list with approved cost data by effective start and end date range. The user may then choose which approved cost data to view.

Once the RLS application displays the chosen approved cost data, the user may view details on a specific data family within the approved cost data by invoking the applicable link. In addition, the user may **Compare** the cost data to another Cost Data Submission, **Copy To Submission** the approved cost data, or **View Summary** of the approved cost data by invoking the applicable link then taking any additional necessary actions.

Figure 89: Options for Viewing Approved Cost Data

-	50 Reference Level Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generate	or Cost Data Reference Levels Site Map	
Home 🕨 A	pproved Cost Data	
Cost Data	Selection	
Generator	Generator A Gas (123456)	* Include History Ø Selecting the "Include History" box includes
Cost Data	09/25/2010 11:16:40 PM EDT - 10/15/2010 12:00:00 AM EDT	the display of expired submissions
	09/25/2010 11:16:40 PM EDT - 10/15/2010 12:00:00 AM EDT	
Approved Generator	10/15/2010 12:00:00 AM EDT - 01/23/2011 12:00:00 AM EST	View Cost Data Compare Copy To Submission View Summary
Effective Sta	a 01/23/2011 12:00:00 AM EST - 01/26/2011 12:00:00 AM EST	
Effective En	01/26/2011 12:00:00 AM EST - 01/28/2011 12:00:00 AM EST	Submission Name
Generator Co	01/28/2011 12:00:00 AM EST - 01/31/2011 12:00:00 AM EST	My New Submission
Heat Rate Da	a 04/02/2013 07:14:03 PM EDT - 03/12/2014 03:39:00 PM EDT	My New Submission
Fuel & Emiss	03/12/2014 03:39:00 PM EDT - 04/26/2014 12:00:00 AM EDT	My New Submission
Variable Cost	03/12/2014 03.33.00 PW EDT - 04/20/2014 12.00.00 AW EDT	My New Submission
Risk & Oppor	04/26/2014 12:00:00 AM EDT - 04/30/2014 12:00:00 AM EDT	My New Submission
	04/30/2014 12:00:00 AM EDT - 02/04/2016 06:59:53 PM EST	
	02/04/2016 06:59:53 PM EST - 03/07/2016 04:34:49 PM EST	itor (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.
	03/07/2016 04:34:49 PM EST - 03/10/2016 12:00:00 AM EST	-

7. View Reference Levels

This section describes the RLS Application's View Reference Levels feature, outlining the sequence of activities.

7.1. How to View Reference Levels

— To view Reference Levels

The Reference Level Software (RLS) Application provides the user the ability to view Reference Levels. The user will have the ability to view energy, startup and time based (Emergency Response Rate, Maximum Stops, Minimum Down Time, Minimum Run Time, MinGen MW, Normal Response Rate, Regulation Response Rate, Start-Up Notification Time) Reference Levels. This task in initiated by invoking the **Reference Levels** menu then choosing **View Reference Level Price** followed by **List Reference Values** from (Figure 90).

Figure 90: Access Path for Initiating Display of Reference Level Values

-150	Reference Level Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout			
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels Site Map				
	View Reference Level Price List Reference Levels				
Notifications	Export Reference Levels				
You have no new notifications.	*	View Notification History			
Pending Submissions					
There are no submissions pendi	ng approvals.				
Copyright @ 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.					

In response, the RLS application displays the *List Reference Values* page where the user would next choose a generator from the drop-down list of user-approved generators, and selecting the **Market Date** by populating the corresponding field (Figure 91). The RLS application will then display all the reference levels that were calculated for that day in the **Market Hour** drop-down list (

Figure 92).

Next, the user selects a market hour from the drop-down list, and presses the 'Search' button.

Once the RLS application displays the Reference Levels matching the designated criteria, the user may view values not currently displayed by invoking the applicable **Show Details** link (Figure 93).

Figure 91 : List Reference Levels for Market Date

	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout							
Generator	Cos	t Dat	ta	Re	ferer	nce l	Level	s Site Map
Home 🕨 List	Refer	ence	Leve	ls				
Filtering								
Generator	Gene	erato	r A G	as (12	23456	5)		
Market Date	08/08	/2018	8	7<	ļ			Generator A Gas (123456)
Market Hour	0	Aug)	v 20)18	۲	0	08/2018 02:00:00 AM ED1 ▼ *
Search	Su	Мо	Tu	We	Th	Fr	Sa	
ocuren				1	2	3	4	
Deference	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	
Reference v	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	
Please select a	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	
	26	27	28	29	30	31		2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

Figure 92: List Final Reference Values Page Illustrating Filter Options and Links to Details

Reference Level Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data Reference Levels Site Map		
Home List Reference Levels		
Filtering		
Generator A Gas (123456)		
Market Date 08/08/2018		
Market Hour 08/08/2018 12:00:00 AM EDT - 08/08/2018 02:00:00 AM EDT * *		
Search		
Default Cost Based Fuel Type - for Energy		
DAM - Super Fuel 1XX RT - Regular Fuel AB		
Fuel Cost Adjustment from Bid		
DAM Fuel Type - Super Fuel 1XX DAM Fuel Price - 3.5		
DAM Fuel Type - Super Fuel 1XX DAM Fuel Price - 3.5		
Reference Values		
电 Expand All 电 Collapse All		
Multiple final references were calculated for this market hour on different fuels. The calculation at indicated with a caution symbol.	t market close is indicated with a check mar	k. Superseded references are
Super Fuel 1XX - Energy Refs	User can select a link to view details	
	Market	
FINAL 🗸	DAM	Show Detail
FINAL 🔥	DAM	Show Detail
FINAL 🗸	RT	Show Detail
FINAL 🔥	RT	Show Detail
Generator A Gas (123456), Super Fuel 1XX, 08/08/2018 12:00:00 AM EDT	Figure 7-4 ilustrates the details listed when selecting this link	
E MINGEN		100 C
Reference Hierarchy Type	Market	Show Dotail

Figure 93: Example of Final Reference Values Detail



8. Notifications

This section describes the RLS application's Notification feature, outlining the sequence of activities.

8.1. How to View Notifications

The Reference Level Software (RLS) Application generates notification messages based on the Cost Data Submission request type. Subsequent notifications are created for the various levels of the Cost Data Submission request. The notifications are displayed on the home page of the RLS application in addition to being sent in an e-mail.

Note: A user's MIS profile must have a valid e-mail address on file. The RLS notification process uses this e-mail address to send notifications.

Figure 94 lists notification messages that are sent to MPs, along with the events that trigger the

notification messages.

Figure 94: Notification Trigg	ers, Recipients, and Messages
-------------------------------	-------------------------------

Notification Title	Notification Trigger	MP Recipient(s)	Message
Submission Approval	All family approvals are approved.	 The MP user who submitted the cost data The Reference Price Primary Contact 	Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has been approved.
Submission Rejected	All family approvals are processed and at least one approval was rejected.	 The MP user who submitted the cost data The Reference Price Primary Contact 	Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has been rejected.
Submission Invalidated	Generator engine type group or fuel type is changed within a submission's effective period.	The MP user who submitted the cost data.	Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has been invalidated as 'Generator Engine Type/Generator Fuel Type' during the period '[date]' and '[date]' has changed.
More Information Requested	NYISO requests more information on an approval family.	The MP user who submitted the cost data	Cost Data Submission '[submission]' requires more information: [question].
More Information Provided	MP sends response to NYISO Request For More Information.	The MP user who submitted the cost data	Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has new information: [answer].
Urgent Submission Upgrade	Submission level is upgraded by NYISO.	The MP user who submitted the cost data	The priority of Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has been increased to urgent. This submission will be treated as an emergency request and receive priority for approval.

Notification Title	Notification Trigger	MP Recipient(s)	Message
Urgent Submission Downgrade	Submission level is downgraded by NYISO.	The MP user who submitted the cost data	The priority of Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has been decreased to Normal. This submission will no longer be treated as an emergency request.
Submission Rescinded	Submission is rescinded by MP.	The MP user who submitted the cost data	Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has been rescinded.
Submission Effective Range Expired	All family approvals are approved and submission end date is in the past.	 The MP user who submitted the cost data The Reference Price Primary Contact 	Cost Data Submission '[submission]' has been approved after its effective range has expired. The data in this submission will not be used for Reference Level calculations.

Figure 95 illustrates the display of Notifications on the RLS application's Home page.

Notifications are displayed on the Home page until the user invokes the **Acknowledge All** link beneath the *Notifications* header. In response, the RSL application displays a confirmation prompt (Figure 96). Assuming the user precedes with the acknowledgment process, the applications removes notifications from the Home page and moves to history. The user always has the option to view a notification in history.

	ference Level Soft	ware		
Generator Cost Data Ref	erence Levels Site Map			
otifications				
			Acknowledge All View	Notification His
Sent	Name		Message	
07/29/2016 10:06:21 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
05/31/2016 03:19:58 PM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
05/31/2016 03:18:05 PM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
05/31/2016 02:04:46 PM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
05/31/2016 02:04:20 PM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
05/26/2016 06:16:47 PM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
04/28/2016 11:05:23 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
04/26/2016 05:22:57 PM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
04/22/2016 12:40:52 PM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
04/22/2016 12:07:23 PM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
04/21/2016 03:08:49 PM EDT	Submission Reverted To Draft	Cost Data Submission		
04/21/2016 09:18:18 AM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
04/13/2016 02:06:21 PM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
04/13/2016 10:08:06 AM EDT	Submission Rescinded	Cost Data Submission		
03/31/2016 11:35:19 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
03/31/2016 11:35:17 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
03/31/2016 11:29:11 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
03/31/2016 11:29:09 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
ending Submissions				
ere are no submissions pending an	provals			

Figure 95: Home Page Illustrating Notifications and Acknowledgment Link

Figure 96: Notification Acknowledgment Confirmation Prompt

-150 Re	ference Level So	Billy Watts (BWAT	s) <u>Logout</u>
Generator Cost Data Refe			
Notifications			
Sent #: 07/29/2016 10:06:21 AM EDT #: 06/07/2016 04:40:03 PM EDT #: 06/07/2016 03:50:08 PM EDT #: 06/07/2016 03:25:54 PM EDT #: 06/06/2016 10:57:02 AM EDT #: 06/06/2016 10:57:00 AM EDT #: 06/06/2016 10:56:59 AM EDT #: 06/06/2016 10:56:59 AM EDT #: 05/31/2016 03:18:58 PM EDT #: 05/31/2016 03:18:58 PM EDT #: 05/31/2016 03:18:58 PM EDT	Name Submission Approved Submission Approved Submission Approved Submission Approved Submission Approv Submission Approv Submission Approv Submission Approv Submission Approv Submission Resch Submission Resch Submission Resch	Message Cost Data Submission 'Pouch Contract Charges' has been approved. Cost Data Submission 'Pouch Contract Charges AMB' has been rejected. Cost Data Submission 'Update LF Inventory Cost & TAX' has been approved. Cost Data Submission 'Update LF Inventory Cost & TAX' has been approved. Cost Data Submission 'Update LF Inventory Cost & TAX' has been approved. Select to cancel the "Acknowledge All" request Select to cancel the "Acknowledge All" request U sure you want to acknowledge all notifications? Yes No	
⊕ 05/31/2016 02:04/20 PM EDT ⊕ 04/13/2016 10:08:06 AM EDT ⊕ 03/31/2016 11:35:19 AM EDT ⊕ 03/31/2016 11:35:17 AM EDT ⊕ 03/31/2016 11:29:11 AM EDT ⊕ 03/31/2016 11:29:09 AM EDT	Submission Rescinded Submission Rescinded Submission Approved Submission Approved Submission Approved Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission Cost Data Submission Cost Data Submission Cost Data Submission Cost Data Submission Cost Data Submission	
Pending Submissions There are no submissions pending app			

By invoking the **View Notification History** link beneath the *Notifications* header, the user can access the *View Notification History* page. The upper section of this page lists all notifications previously consigned to history sorted by sent date in descending order, and the lower portion provides filters allowing the user to narrow the display of notifications by any or all of the following parameters (

Figure 97):

- Sent Date (lower and upper limits)
- Acknowledged Date (lower and upper limits)
- Notification Type
- Message

Figure 97: Notification History Display Filtering Options

-15	Refe	rence Level So	oftware		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost D	ata Refere	nce Levels Site Map			
Home Notification H	istory				
<u></u> ,	icitor)				
Notification History					
Show 10 V					
Sent	_	Name		Message	Acknowledged
± 07/29/2016 10:06:21	AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission	moodgo	<u></u>
· 07/29/2016 10:05:20	AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
± 07/29/2016 10:04:24	AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
± 07/29/2016 10:03:46	AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
· 06/30/2016 04:44:37	PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission		
± 06/30/2016 04:43:16	PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission		
± 06/30/2016 04:41:36	PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission		
E 06/30/2016 04:40:03	PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission		
06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 03:50:08 06/07/2016 07/2016 07/2016 07/201	PM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
± 06/07/2016 03:41:50	PM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission		
Showing 1 to 10 of 128 e	entries				<< < 1 2 3 4 5 > >>
Filtering <					
	Lower Limit	Upper Limit			
Sent			N		
A also available a d			3		
Acknowledged					
	More Information	on Provided 🔺			
	More Informatio	on Requested			
Manua	Submission Ap	proved			
Name	Submission Re	jected			
	Submission Re	scinded			
	Submission Re	verted To Draft 👻			
Message					
moodayo					
Search Reset					
		Copyright © 2018 New York In	dependent System Operator (NYIS	O). All rights reserved. C	onfidential.

9. Pending Submissions

This section describes the RLS application's Pending Submissions feature.

9.1. How to View Pending Submissions

The RLS application lists all pending Cost Data Submissions on its Home page sorted by created date/time in descending order.

Note: A pending Cost Data Submission is one that has been submitted by the MP and is awaiting approval.

Figure 98 illustrates the display of pending Notifications.

Figure 98: Home Page Illustrating Pending Submissions

-150 Re	ference Level S	oftware	Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data Ref	erence Levels Site Map		
Notifications			Acknowledge All View Notification History
Sent	Name	м	
T 07/29/2016 10:06:21 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission	×
107/29/2016 10:05:20 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission	×
07/29/2016 10:04:24 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission	⊂ ⊗
07/29/2016 10:03:46 AM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission	×
06/30/2016 04:44:37 PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission	×
1 06/30/2016 04:43:16 PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission	×
1 06/30/2016 04:41:36 PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission	×.
± 06/30/2016 04:40:03 PM EDT	Submission Rejected	Cost Data Submission	\otimes
1 06/07/2016 03:50:08 PM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission	8
06/07/2016 03:41:50 PM EDT	Submission Approved	Cost Data Submission	\otimes
Pending Submissions			
Show 10 T			
Submission Time 08/09/2018 09:24:16 AM EDT	Submission Name My New Submission	Generator Submission Level Generator A Gas NORMAL	Effective Start Date Effective End Date 08/30/2018
Showing 1 to 1 of 1 entries			<< < 1 > >>
	Copyright © 2018 New York	Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserve	d. Confidential.

10. Cost Data Approval Process

10.1. Cost Data Submission Status Codes

Six different states may be associated with a Cost Data Submission throughout its lifespan, as outlined below:

Draft

Cost data information as entered has been saved and stored in the RLS database(s). The submission has not been sent to the NYISO for approval. The NYISO has the ability to revert submitted cost data back to *Draft* so that the Market Participant may make updates to the data.

Submitted

The cost data information has been submitted to NYISO for approval. Once submitted, data are then placed in a queue for review and approval by NYISO.

Rescinded

Cost data information that was previously submitted to NYISO for approval is being rescinded, so NYISO approval is no longer being requested. A Cost Data Submission must be in a *Submitted* state to allow the change to *Rescinded* status.

Approved

The NYISO has reviewed the Cost Data Submission and approved it.

Invalidated

The configuration of the generator for a Cost Data Submission has changed for a period of time that overlaps a period of time within the Cost Data Submission. A Cost Data Submission that is in the *Draft* or *Submitted* state can be invalidated.

Rejected

The NYISO has reviewed the Cost Data Submission and determined it cannot be approved. A Cost Data Submission will be updated to a *Rejected* status when any one component is rejected. Therefore, a rejected Cost Data Submission may contain approved components. A user can view the rejected Cost Data Submission and see which components have been rejected (Figure 99).

Figure 99: Rejected Component Among Approved Components for a Rejected Cost Data Submission

-150	Reference Lo	evel Software		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Data	Reference Levels	Site Map		
Home List Submissions	View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Download Submissi	on Copy Submission Rescin	d Submission View Summary	View Submission Compare Attachments	0) <u>View Comments (0)</u> <u>CMMT Details</u>]
Submission Details				
Submission Name Submission Created Submission Created By Submission Status Submitted By Submission Time Submission Level Generator Name Effective Start Date Effective End Date Cost Data Segments Segment (MW)	MyNewSubmission 07/30/2018 10:19:55 AM EDT Billy Watts (BWATTS) Billy Watts Organization SUBMITTED Billy Watts (BWATTS) 08/09/2018 09:24:16 AM EDT NORMAL Generator A Gas 08/30/2018		Description	
	110			
	170			
Cost Data Families				
	Family Name		Approval Status	
Generator Contacts		No approvals required	I for this cost data family.	
Heat Rate Data		Rejected ——	The Heat Rate Data component w	as Rejected!
Fuel & Emission Cost Data		Pending		
Startup Cost Data		Pending		
Variable Cost Data		Pending		
Risk & Opportunity Cost Da	ta	Pending		
Ancillary Services Cost Data	<u>a</u>	Pending		

Copyright © 2018 New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

10.2. Question and Answer Exchange

During the approval process of a Cost Data Submission, the RLS application provides functionality for a question and answer exchange between the MP and the NYISO to facilitate the approval of the Cost Data Submission.

The RLS application provides the MP access to questions from the NYISO via the *List Submissions* feature. After viewing a listed submission, the MP would invoke the **View Approved Questions** link (Figure 99).

Note: The View Approved Questions link is displayed *only* when a Cost Data Submission's status is *Submitted*.

The MP can then respond to the question (Figure 100).

Figure 100: View Approval Questions Link

-156	Reference Level Soft	ware		Billy Watts (BWATTS) Logout
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site Map			
Home List Submission	s View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission SUBMITTED NORMAL	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/09/2018 09:24:16 AM EDT 08/30/2018	
Approvals		Allows for Q&A exch	ange between MP's and NYISO	
Approval Status More Int	fo Needed			
08/09/2018 09:43:17 AM F	Timestamp	Rejecte	d: Heat Rate too low	Nessage
Heat Rate Details		risjoor		
Unit Minimum Generation Heat Input at Min Gen (mm Additional DAM MG Adde Additional RT MG Adder (Unit Capacity (MIS) Unit Capacity (RLS)	110 nBTU/hour) 905.000 RLS Calculated MG Hea r (S/MWh) \$/MWh) 162.7 MW 170 MW	nt Rate (mmBTU/hour) 99.	000	
Heat Rate Data Segme	nts			
Segment (MW) 110 135 140	Incremental Heat Rate (BTU/KWh) 5,069 6,769 7,001 7,607		Description	
133	8,393	andant System Onerator (N	VISO) All rights reserved. Confir	lential

Figure 101: Sample Approval Question and Response

-150	Reference Level S	Software	Billy Watts (BWATTS) <u>Logou</u>	
Generator Cost Dat	a Reference Levels Site Ma	ар		
Home List Submission	S View Submission			
Generator Name Engine Type PTID	Generator A Gas Combined Cycle - 7FA F-Class 123456	Owner Bidder	Billy Watts Billy Watts	
Submission Name Submission Status Submission Level	MyNewSubmission SUBMITTED NORMAL	Submission Time Effective Start Date Effective End Date	08/09/2018 09:24:16 AM EDT 08/30/2018	
Approval Questions				
Timestamp		Question / R	esponse	
08/09/2018 09:55:00 AM E	IN/09/2018 09:55:00 AM EDT Question - NYISO: Can you please clarify the Heat Rate Data? Question from NYISO Response - Billy Watts (BWATTS): Shall submit new values soon! Answer from MP			
	Copyright © 2018 New Yor	k Independent System Operator (N	VYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.	

11. Aggregations / Distributed Energy Resources (DERs)

11.1. Aggregations / Distributed Energy Resources (DERs) Overview

Each Aggregation includes one or more Distributed Energy Resources (DERs). An Aggregations can be a single resource, a collection of similar or identical resources (e.g., all solar generators), or a collection of different resource types. DER resources have been added to RLS. Reference levels are ordinarily developed for each of the DER that participate in an Aggregation. Aggregations follow the same methods for Viewing Reference Levels as shown in Section 7 of this guide. Aggregations have a different method of accessing Cost Based information.

11.2. DERs Cost Information

Unlike traditional generation DERs have cost information configured by NYISO. The Market Mitigation and Analysis Department will apply Cost Based Templates to DERs. Templates will be added for each type of DER that participates in an Aggregation, based on its fuel type, operating cost, and any other relevant cost associated with that type of resource. Aggregations that include several DER can have multiple Cost Based Templates assigned.

Market Participants can contact the NYISO to discuss the Cost Based Templates assigned to specific DER and the costs of their resources by contacting NYISO Stakeholder Services. The NYISO can develop a unique Cost Based Template for a DER to incorporate input that a Market Participant provides and the NYISO (in consultation with the MMU) accepts.

Market Participants can access the cost information assigned in the Aggregations menu choice in RLS.

Figure 102: Aggregation Menu

	Reference	Level Softw	are
Generator Cost Data	Aggregations	Reference Levels	Site Map
	List Aggregations		
Notifications	List Cost Based Temp	lates	
You have no new notifications.			
Pending Cost Data			
There is no cost data pending a	pprovals.		
		Copyright © 2023	New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). All rights reserved. Confidential.

List Aggregations: Cost Based Templates assigned to an Aggregations are be viewed under List Aggregations.

Figure 103: List Aggregation View

Generator Cost Data	Aggregations	Reference Levels	Site Map				
Home List Aggregations							
Aggregations							
Show 10 🗸							
Aggregation	<u>CBT Na</u>	me Effective S	tart Date Effective End Da	te Approved User	Approved Time	Update User	Update Time

The Templates that are assigned can be viewed under List Cost Based Templates. Cost Based Templates are very similar to Cost Based Submissions described in Section 3 of this guide. Cost Based Templates have only one segment and only apply to DER Reference Levels.

Figure 104: List Cost Based Templates View

Generator Cost Data	Aggregations	Reference Levels	Site Map					
Home List Cost Based Ter	nplates							
Cost Based Templates								
Show 10 🗸								
CBT Name	Engine Type	Fuel Type	Effective Start Date	Effective End Date	<u>Status</u>	Created Date	Update User	Update Time

Each DER will have default a resource type configured by NYISO for the DA and RT markets. The default type will generally be the lowest cost DER available to the Aggregation. The Reference Level for the DER will be initially calculated based on this default resource type. It is up to the Market Party to select a

more appropriate DER resource for hours when it expects its Aggregation will be required to dispatch higher cost resources.

Aggregations can indicate the appropriate Cost Based Template that should be used for calculating their Reference Level by using the Fuel Cost Adjustment (FCA) feature on the Generator Bid to update the Aggregation's fuel type. Further FCA details for a DER are in Appendix B of this guide.

Appendix A Reserved for future use

Appendix B Fuel Cost Adjustment Functionality

B.1 Overview of Fuel Cost Adjustment (FCA)

Generators have the ability to submit Fuel Cost Adjustments, in which generators enter a burdened fuel price and/or fuel type on their RT bids and/or DAM bids.

Entering burdened fuel price and/or fuel type on the bid will allow the generator's Energy, MinGen and Startup references to be re-calculated with the new fuel information and more closely match the generator's actual fuel costs. The RLS application will use the burdened fuel price to adjust Reference Levels, subject to RLS rules.

The submission deadline for updated fuel information is 15 minutes prior to the close of the DAM (4:45 a.m.). For the RT market, submissions must be received prior to market close, which is 75 minutes prior to the operating hour.

Burdened fuel prices may be entered on any individual hour, multiple hours, or all hours of a particular day to properly reflect actual fuel costs. Fuel price and type information is validated using the current approved RLS cost data at the time of the DAM and RT close. Fuel cost and fuel type information is compared to posted Fuel Entry Thresholds to perform an *ex-ante* validation. If the submitted fuel information exceeds the posted Fuel Entry Threshold, a generator may contact MMA to request a Secondary Threshold that will permit the proposed change in fuel price or fuel type to be validated.

To view the Fuel Entry Thresholds visit the following link and see screenshot below:

https://www.nyiso.com/market-monitoring

Note: A fuel type change that does not have an associated Fuel Entry Threshold will result in a fuel threshold validation error and references will not be updated.

Figure B-1: Fuel Entry Thresholds

New York ISO Independent System Operator	About US V Gind of the Future MARKETS V LIBRARY V	Careers Calendar Support Logi PLANNING COMMITTEES TRAINING (
PPORT > MARKET MONITORING		
		Useful Links
MARKET MONI	IORING	Tariffs, FERC Filings & Orders
		Potomac Economica
		of State of the Market Report
		of Monthly Net Benefit Offer Floor
		■ Expectations of Generator Operation
		During a Gas Restriction or Interuption User
		Guide
pport	Market Monitoring	
ludget & Finance 🗸	The Market Monitoring Unit (MMU) is responsible for en	suring that the markets administered by the ISO function
Budget & Priorities Working Group	efficiently and appropriately, and to protect both consum identifying and reporting Market Violations, market desir	ters and participants in the markets administered by the ISU b on flaws and market power abuses. Direct contact with the
Billing & Settlements v	Market Monitoring Unit can be established here nyisomr	nu@potomaceconomics.com.
Billing Rates	The Market Millionian and Analysis December 20040	is an analytic for the inclusion of the 100 Medical Device
Counterparty & Credit Risk Management	Mitigation Measures (MST ATT H) and working collabor	is responsible for the implementation of the ISU Market Powe atively with the Market Monitoring Unit and other ISO
Sustomer Registration	departments to assist the ISO's efforts to carry out its Ti	ariff responsibilities, including the ISO's obligation to provide
inowledge Articles	adequate data and support to its Market Monitoring Unit	L.
Aarket Monitoring	Contact with the Market Mitigation and Analysis unit car	n be established through the Customer Relations Help Desk at
Aember Community	518.356.6060 (please note, all calls are recorded for qua	ality assurance) or by emailing stakeholder_services@nyiso.co
Containe - Reador in Court P I	ICAP Reference System Login	
	ICAP Reference System User's Guide	
	Reference Level Software Lonin	
	Reference Level software Login	
	Reference Level Software User's Guide	
	The NYISO Market Monitoring Plan grants the NVISO Ma	arket Monitoring Unit authority to investigate market events,
	conduct, and/or performance. NVISO market participant	ts may, at their discretion, request the NVISO investigate a
	specifically identified market issue.	
	View Tech Bulletin 104	
	Market Monitoring	
	Name	Published Typ
	 Consultation Request Form 	
	Fuel Entry Thresholds	
	Fuel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 02-17-2 Evel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 12-24-2	2023 2023/02/15 pt 2021/12/21 -
	Fuel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 11-24-2	2017 2017/11/22 🜌
	Fuel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 7-10-20	2017/07/07
	Fuel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 04-4-20 Evel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 04-4-20	017 2017/04/03 of 2017/04/03
	Fuel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 12-08-2	2016 2016/12/07 of
	Fuel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 07-01-2	2016 2016/06/30 of
	Fuel Entry Thresholds DA and RT Effective 03-17-2	2016 2016/03/16
	Final Faster, Threadhailds DA and DT Fill and a Ad Ad	

All submitted fuel information is also reviewed *ex-post* to ensure that accurate information was submitted. The submission of fuel information that is found to have been biased in the Market Participants favor can result in the revocation of the ability to use the Fuel Cost Adjustment functionality for the affected generator(s). The submission of inaccurate fuel information that impacts market prices or guarantee payments may result in a penalty, as well as revocation of the ability to use the Fuel Cost Adjustment functionality, for the affected generator(s)

Note: To update any other Reference Level cost component requires submittal through the RLS application and NYISO approval.

B.2. Fuel Cost Adjustment Privileges

By default, burdened fuel price and fuel type modification privileges will be "on" for all generators that burn fuel oil, gas or kerosene. For Distributed Energy Resources (DERs) burdened fuel price and fuel type modification privileges will be "on". For all other generators, the privilege will be "off". Units that burn landfill gas will also default to "off". An MP may request this privilege by contacting its Customer Relations representative. These privileges can be set separately for RT and DAM. These privileges can be revoked by the NYISO if submissions are determined to be inaccurate, speculative or unsupported.

B.3. Entering Fuel Type/Burdened Fuel Price

Using FCAs, an MP can enter fuel type and/or burdened fuel price to update its Energy Reference Level for a specific generator for a specific market, for a specific bid date and hour without NYISO approval, as long as bids are within posted Fuel Entry Thresholds. Burden includes applicable taxes, transport and distribution costs, and fuel acquisition brokerage fees.

- For *NYC gas costs*, burden may include the following:
 - NYC Sales Tax
 - NYC Utility Excise Tax
 - Pipeline Transport Cost (usually zero in NYC)
 - Local Distribution Cost (charges by the gas Local Distribution Company to deliver gas from an Interstate Pipeline metering point to the site of the generator)
 - Fuel Acquisition Brokerage Fees (pre-contracted \$/mmBTU procured)
- For *NYC fuel oil costs*, burden may include the following:
 - NYC Sales Tax
 - Petroleum Business Tax

- Spill Tax
- Transport Costs (as applicable)
- Fuel Acquisition Brokerage Fees (pre-contracted \$/mmBTU procured)
- For *Rest of State fuel oil costs*, burden may include the following:
 - Petroleum Business Tax
 - Spill Tax
 - Any applicable local/municipal sales taxes
 - Transport Costs (as applicable)
 - Fuel Acquisition Brokerage Fees (pre-contracted \$/mmBTU procured)
- For *Rest of State natural gas costs*, burden may include the following:
 - Any applicable local/municipal sales taxes
 - Pipeline Transport Costs, for delivery from the point of the spot quotation to the metering point where the gas LDC picks up the gas
 - Local Distribution Costs (charges by the gas LDC to deliver gas from an Interstate Pipeline metering point to the site of the generator)
 - Fuel Acquisition Brokerage Fees (pre-contracted \$/mmBTU procured)

In general, the tax rates and adders that determine the burden will rarely change: When these burden parameters do happen to shift, the new values should be submitted through the normal RLS Submission process. Changes in burdened reference fuel costs made through FCAs should typically reflect deviations in the commodity cost of the fuel, rather than changes in the more static burden parameters.

Note: The MP is responsible for the accuracy of fuel type and burdened fuel prices submitted. with Section 23.4.3.3.3 of the Market Mitigation Measures. Submitting inaccurate information to the NYISO may also violate FERC's Regulations prohibiting electric energy market manipulation, and the market monitoring unit may be required to report the Market Participant's behavior to FERC's Office of Enforcement. See 18 C.F.R . § 1c.2(2).

B.4. Validation of Fuel Information at Bid Submission and at Market Close

Two sets of validations will be performed:

- At Bid Submittal:
 - Fuel type data may be submitted with DAM or RT bids and will be validated as follows upon submittal:
 - Fuel type ID must be a whole number greater than or equal to zero, or null.
 - Fuel type ID must be one of the valid IDs in the RLS application.
 - Burdened fuel price may be submitted (in \$/mmBTU) with DAM or RT bids, and will be validated as follows upon submittal:
 - Burdened fuel price must be a numeric value greater than or equal to zero, or null.
 - Maximum value for burdened fuel price is \$999.999/mmBTU.
 - An error message will be returned if the fuel cost data does not pass these validation checks.

Note: An error message will be returned if the fuel cost data does not pass these validation checks. Validation checks occur at Generator Bid Submission in Market Place, at Bid Upload, and Market Close

- At Market Close:
 - The MP must have the ability to enter burdened fuel price/fuel type configured in RLS.
 - Fuel type as entered is one of the pre-approved fuels submitted with the MP's cost data.
 - Fuel type/burdened fuel price fall within the posted Fuel Entry Thresholds (maximum and minimum thresholds). Thresholds may be different between the DAM and RT Markets. NYISO may also grant generator specific secondary thresholds by generator and by market.
 - Burdened fuel price: Generators with fuel types of Wind, Hydro, Solar, or ESR are not eligible to enter a fuel price on the Generator Bid
 - Fuel type and price can be entered for Distributed Energy Resources (DERs) under the conditions described below.

Note: Simultaneous RLS and MIS submissions may be appropriate.

B.5. Processing of Fuel Information at Market Close

NYISO will use the best fuel information available to it at market close to validate an MPs fuel submission. For fuel information consistent with the posted Fuel Entry Thresholds, the RLS application will re-calculate the generator's Energy, MinGen, and Start-up reference levels with the new fuel information at market close. These adjusted Reference Levels are not viewable prior to Market Close since they are calculated during the Market Close.

Note: If failure occurs on any validation, the Energy reference will not be updated. The MIS bid itself will not be invalidated and the offer submitted for the Generator will be tested for possible mitigation against the unmodified Reference Level that was calculated and available prior to market close

B.6. Fuel Cost Adjustments for Distributed Energy Resources (FCAs for DERs).

Each of the Cost Based Templates assigned to an Aggregation will have a unique fuel type. An Aggregation's hourly Bid may indicate the highest cost fuel type the MP expects to use to provide energy if the Aggregation is scheduled. If the Aggregation does not enter a fuel type with its Bid, then the default fuel type configured in RLS will be used for the relevant market hour.

The MP will select the appropriate Cost Based Template to use for each upcoming hour in the fuel type field of the Generator Bid by selecting the fuel type that matches the Cost Based Template assigned to the

appropriate DER for that market hour. This will allow RLS to adjust the Reference Level to the proper Cost Based Template at market close. A burdened fuel price is not required for the selection of a Cost Based Template. However, if a Cost Based Template for a DER that burns fuels is being selected, a fuel price may be entered to ensure the Reference Level uses the submitted fuel price. A fuel price should not be entered for Cost Based Templates for DER that do not burn fuel. If a burdened fuel price is not indicated on the Generator Bid for a Cost Based Template that uses a fuel price, then RLS will use a current indexed price in the reference level calculation.

Figure B-2: Generator Bid Screen



It would not be appropriate to submit a burdened fuel price if the Cost Based Template selected reflects a DER types such as Wind, Solar, Hydro or ESR. In these cases, the burdened fuel price field should be left blank.